Faculty of Humanities, Social Sciences and Education Center for Sami Studies

The Impact of Covid-19 Pandemic on Education for Indigenous People in Uganda. A Case Study of Karamojong Community

Babirye Brenda Master of Philosophy in Indigenous Studies, June 2022



The Impact Of Covid-19 Pandemic on Education for Indigenous People In Uganda

A Case Study of Karamojong Community

By:

Babirye Brenda
Master of Philosophy in Indigenous Studies
Faculty of Humanities, Social Sciences, and Education
UiT-The Arctic University of Norway

Supervised by:

Kajsa Kemi Gjerpe and Rachel Issa Djesa
Centre for Sami Studies, UIT-The Arctic University of Norway

Acknowledgement

This thesis benefits from the valuable contribution and support of a tall list of people who I am deeply indebted to. First, I glorify the Almighty God who has granted everyone wisdom, health, knowledge, and guidance to support me in carrying out this study throughout the difficult times of the Covid-19 pandemic. I give glory to our Heavenly Father who enabled these people to help me stay focus through the stressful moments. I glorify God almighty for granting me good health, knowledge, wisdom, and the understanding that I needed to complete this thesis.

Secondly, my sincere gratitude to my supervisors Kajsa Kemi Gjerpe and Rachel Issa Djesa for sharing their expertise and guidance during my presentations. Their feedbacks have been useful in shaping my ideas into a meaningful study. In all the time, you motivated my perseverance during the periods I encountered difficulties with the writing process. Your constructive feedbacks encouraged me and indeed gave me confidence to continue. I want to thank you for the roles you have played in my academic journey.

I also take this opportunity to extend my appreciation to all the staff of the Center for Sami Studies (SESAM) at the University of Tromsø. I am also thankful to my MIS19 and MIS20 classmates and colleagues for your guidance and feedback during our class seminars. Your suggestions have been helpful in improving on this thesis with additional ideas. You have been the great companions that have given me a feel of student life in an international academic environment. Your support have lifted my soul to understand that I am not different, and that I am capable of excelling. I appreciate those of you that have been supportive with your time by reading through my draft and helping me put my thoughts together.

A special thanks also goes to my family for the encouragement and emotional support you provided through the years. Your love and patience kept me going even in the midst of all the challenges I faced. I am greatly indebted to my daughter Nanteza Suzan, whom I deprived of my presences in these two years. Just seeing your smile each time we spoke on video call kept me going. You have been the reason why I kept going hard to accomplish this task. Now I know I will joyfully make it up to you.

Abstract

The Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak from 2019 has impacted education systems of many countries around the world. Efforts to contain COVID-19 have led to the closure of schools in more than 100 countries worldwide. This situation has also left over one billion learners out of school. For marginalized communities such as indigenous people, the situation has been worse. This study investigated the impact of COVID-19 on Indigenous people's education in Uganda, with focus on Uganda's Karamojong people. The study is based on qualitative data gathered from newspapers. A total of 25 newspapers from five newspaper organizations in Uganda were used for this research. The gathered data were analyzed using the content analysis method.

This study explores the challenges and impact of Covid-19 on the education process of the Karamojong peoples. I focused on the possible strategies that can be applied to limit the challenges they encounter in the education sector as a result of Covid-19. The findings of the study shows that the Covid-19 situation has created both positive and negative impacts on Karamojong education. Secondly, the study found that the Karamojong are contributing to solutions to the negative impacts of Covid-19 by resorting to a traditional way of learning that involves the making wooden "seat packs" for use by student and teachers in the learning teaching process. This indigenous solution aligned with social distancing protocols, while being affordable to low-income earners.

The findings also show that COVID-19 has nevertheless had adverse effects on education for Karamojong in the form of learning disruptions, decreased access to education and research facilities, and high student debts. Attempts were made to use of technology as an alternative to the traditional teaching method. However, the online system of teaching was hindered challenges such as poor internet connection, unstable electricity supply, and poor digital skills. The study underscores the damaging effects of COVID-19 on the education sector in general, and highlights the need for all educational institutions, educators, and learners to adopt technology in order to improve their digital skills in line with the increasing role of technology in education.

Keywords: Coronavirus, Education, School closure, Indigenous Peoples, e-learning.

Table of Contents

Ackr	nowle	edgement	iii
Abst	tract.		V
Сн	APTE	R ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Intro	oduction	1
1.2	Bac	kground	1
1.3	Edu	cation in Uganda before Covid-19 Pandemic	3
1.4	Situ	ation of education in Karamoja before Covid-19	4
1.5	Pro	blem statement and Research Questions	5
1.6	Rel	evance	7
1.7	Out	line of the thesis	8
2	Сн	APTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW AND THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	9
2.1	Pre	vious research on the impacts of Covid-19 pandemic on education	9
2.2	Ger	neral overview of Covid-19 pandemic	9
2.	.2.1	Pandemics and education disruption	10
2.3	Indi	genous People and Education	11
2.	.3.1	Indigeneity in Africa	11
2.	.3.2	Indigenous Peoples of Uganda and Karamojong Indigenous People	13
2.	.3.3	Indigenous Education	14
2.	.3.4	Indigenous Education in Africa	16
2.	.3.5	Right of education to indigenous peoples	17
2.	.3.6	Online learning and Indigenous Education: Challenges	18
2.4	2.4	Theoretical Framework	18
2.	.4.1	Education and decolonization	19
2.	.4.2 [Decolonization	19
2.	.4.2	Power relations and distinctions in education	20
3	Сн	APTER THREE: METHODS AND DATA	23

3.1	ntroduction	23
3.1	3.2 Data sources	23
3.2	Content Analysis	24
3.3	Ethics, reflexivity, and positionality	26
3	3.1 Ethics	26
3	3.2 Positionality	27
3	3.3 Reflexivity	28
3.4	Challenges	29
4	CHAPTER FOUR: ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION	31
4.1	Introduction	31
4.2	Impacts of covid-19 on education as represented in the Newspapers on indigenous peoples.	31
4	2.1 Problem area 1: E- learning creating inequality in access to education	32
	2.2 Problem Area 2: Covid-19 has led to an absence of physical/formal schooling incorpora ith distance model or homeschooling	
4.3	Possible strategies to respond to impact of COVID-19 on education	38
4	3.1 Introducing evidence-based interventions to recover lost lessons	39
4	3.2 Engaging with parents and teachers	39
4	3.3 Using local volunteers and locally trained facilitators to support learning	
4	3.4 Supporting through both online and offline methods	40
4	3.5 Training teachers to run online classes and consider students' access to technology	42
4.4	Positive impact of Moving to digital infrastructure	43
4.5	Using Mobile Furniture to keep children in school	43
5	CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION	47
5.1	Has Covid-19 pandemic created challenges to education on Indigenous People of Karamoja	?. 47
5.2	Decolonization and Karamojong peoples	48
5.3	Relating Education and power	49
6	CHAPTER SIX: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIVE REMARKS	53
6 1	Summary	53

REF	ERENCES	57
6.3	Conclusion and Recommendation	54
6.2	The contribution made by this study.	54



Chapter One: Introduction

1.1 Introduction

The outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in 2019 caused increased tensions and disrupted every aspect of people's lives globally. However, its impact was different in various regions, and communities especially after the lockdowns and temporary shutdown of education institutions (UNESCO, 2020). Many countries whose education sector had severe challenges in providing quality and accessible basic education grappled with challenges in providing education to students on equal level during the lockdown periods. Those most affected by the situation are vulnerable communities such as indigenous people. A study conducted by Mahaye (2020) on the pedagogies of blended learning during the Covid-19 school closure indicate that the Covid-19 outbreak has increased the vulnerability of indigenous peoples. This indicates that countries with vulnerable communities are grappling with a lack of supporting infrastructure for online learning and access to education in this period of global health crisis.

A survey on learning inequalities in the United Kingdom conducted by Nicola Pensiero et al. show that areas with less or no online accessibility face learning inequalities as there is increased inability to access education during periods of closure of schools (Pensiero, 2021). This project explores this further to find out how the situation applies to the Karamojong community in Uganda. The Karamojong are recognized as an indigenous community in Uganda. They face challenges with educational performance due to problems of underdevelopment in their traditional regions in Uganda. The aim of this study is to explore their contribution to solutions to school closures and to identify existing inequalities in education brought about by Covid-19 pandemic.

1.2 Background

The Karamojong live in the North-eastern part of Uganda. With a population of around 988,429 peoples, they constitute up one per cent of the total population in Uganda (IWGIA, 2011). The Karamajong consist of clans and smaller ethnic groups such as Matheniko, Bokora, Pian, Pokot, Jie, Dodoth, Ik, Ethur, and Jabwor. They are indigenous to areas such as Kaabong, Kotido, Amudat, Napak, Moroto, Abim, and Nakapiripirit districts of north-eastern Uganda. They are a largest cluster of culturally and historically related groups in Uganda, with a local language called "Karimajong" (Brown, Kelly & mabugu, 2017). While pastoralism remains a common

livelihood activity among the Karamojong, some of them engage in agriculture to supplement their pastoralist way of subsistence.¹

Being a semi-nomadic pastoralist community, Karamojong people are "geographically, economically and politically isolated and are the most marginalized people in Uganda" (IPACC, 2011). Although they have adopted a mixed form of sustenance (Huisman, 2001), crop cultivation has been an uncertain source of because of the harsh and dry climate in the Karamojong areas of Uganda. In Uganda, these group of people of people remain closely attached to their cultures in terms of the way they dressing, their practice of Karamojong initiation rites, ceremonies, traditional dances, and many aspects of their culture. They have been successful at preserving their identity despite the introduction of development policies and projects in their regions (Litch, 2000). Their strict adherence to Karamojong society norms and customs, they are perceived as resistant to change or as unfriendly and harsh in how they strive to live by their traditional way of life (Brown, Kelly & Mabugu, 2017).

Being a group of people who continue to rely on land resources for their sustenance, Karamojong people are greatly affected by recent problem of climatic changes (Ariong, 2016). In 2015 for instance, the Karamojong faced a drought problem that left them with no food and water, and causing famine and hunger within the region (Ariong, 2016). As a result of that, some Karamojongs are forced by growing poverty rates to migrate to urban areas such as Kampala. Once in the city, they face exploitation and discrimination due their way of dressing. In the city of Kampala, Karamojong remain unique among the city population. They move around the city with their traditional clothes and other distinct accessories. Despite all of that, their presence in Kampala is still considered a threat by the larger multi-ethnic inhabitants of Kampala. This accounts for their discrimination and marginalization from public life (Brown, Kelly & Mabugu, 2017).

Apart from their practice of agro-pastoralism for sustenance, they also engage in other economic activities such as hunting and gathering, selling of firewood, charcoal, poultry selling, crafts, block laying, the extraction of stone, and local beer brewing (Brown, Kelly & Trevor, 2017).

¹ Uganda consists of many ethnic groups which are existing in Uganda found on https://www.africa.upenn.edu/NEH/u-ethn.html though my focus was on the Karamojong community and their origin.

1.3 Education in Uganda before Covid-19 Pandemic

Uganda education system in the 21st century evolved from previous missionary and colonial education system that continued after the country's independence in 1962 (Sidonia,Ochieng & Dvid, 2019). The structure of the education system consists of 7 years of primary education (ages 6-12), 6 years of secondary education (ages 13-18), and 3-5 years of post-graduate studies or university where students can choose between private and public schools. The primary level comprise the Universal Primary Education system (UPE) that the government implemented in public schools. The UPE has been in place since 1997 to provide free public education and improve enrollment (David, 2005). In general terms, education in Uganda faces challenges with funding and poor teaching and learning quality. This is also characterized by high teacher absenteeism and poor academic performance among students (Javira, 2021). In some public schools where the quality of teaching and learning is relatively high, there are problems of low attendance and low completion rates (UNICEF, 2010).

In the past, Uganda's education system did not create space for nursery and day care centers (pre-primary). However, in 2016 the National Integrated Early Childhood Development (NIECD) policy was launched to provide pre-primary education for children aged 3-5 years (Ssekamwa, 1997). This policy was developed to ensure that children will be physically, mentally, emotionally, spiritually, morally, and socially groomed for primary education. However, the policy was implemented by the private school system while the government concentrates on implementation at the primary to higher education level.

The schools in Uganda play significant roles in motivating school attendance among children. Public schools offer meals at reduced prices while parents in farming communities sometimes donate food items such as maize and beans to support the schools' efforts. In Karamoja, the World Food Program (WFP) has been supporting the government by providing food to school children to motivate them to attend school.

Like many sub-Saharan African country, Uganda faced many challenges in ensuring access to basic education even before the COVID-19 pandemic (UNICEF, 2010). A survey conducted by Tumwesigye et.al (2020) showed that 80% of Uganda's school-age children live in rural areas where private and public schools are characterized by a lack of resources. Many schools in the rural areas also have underdeveloped school infrastructure. Moreover, most schools in Uganda do not have adequate facility to support the online school system, as a teacher is

expected to be in class, especially in public schools, though this does not exclude private schools (Ssekamwa, 1997). Thus areas like Karamoja experience difficulties in accessing learning outcomes as they are experiencing high levels of teacher and student absenteeism, coupled with poor school infrastructure (Brown, Kelly, & Mabugu, 2017).

There have also been significant gaps between school enrollment in rural and urban areas. Statistics show that student's school attendance and completion at the primary level in urban areas are high compared to those in rural areas (Tumwesige, 2020). The level of literacy in rural areas is low, especially among females, while income levels are generally low in urban and rural areas.

1.4 Situation of education in Karamoja before Covid-19.

There is no specific education policy for Karamojong. It follows the Ugandan education policy as explained above. However, Before the Covid-19 pandemic began, the quality of Karamojong education had been low, and had been occasioned by high rates of drop-outs and low attendance rates (Brown. Kelly & Mabugu, 2017). The reason for this situation has been the refusal of Karamojong people to learn from the colonial power as far back as the period before 1995 (Litch, 2000). They considered education as a 'curse' placed on them by their grandfathers who were 'recruited by the pen' to fight in the World Wars (Litch, 2000). Having returned from the wars, grandfathers lost trust in formal education system. This has been the reason why few parents send their children to school, as education is considered as a system that is irrelevant to their lifestyle

To address this problem, the Government of Uganda created many initiatives to encourage Karamojong parents to send their children to school (Nakisanze, 2019). In 1998, the Ugandan government established the Alternative Basic Education for Karamoja (ABEK) program. This program involved holding class sessions in two shifts to accommodate the pastoralist lifestyle and domestic tasks of Karamojong children. With assistance from the World Food Programme, this program ensured the provision of meals to school children to encourage school attendance. This program remained partly successful as parents sent their children to school just to have access to the meals being offered (Nakisanze, 2019). In the subsequent years, ABEK continued working to increase awareness of importance of education in Karamoja but still faces low enrollment due to factors such as their nomadic lifestyle, early and forced marriages, and poor learning centers. These factors generate low interest in schooling and learning among children in Karamojong regions (ABEK, 2006).

1.5 Problem statement and Research Questions

Education is important for indigenous communities' efforts to find creative ways to preserve their culture (Zhirkova, 20026). Many education policies have been developed to help Indigenous people participate in broader societies. With education systems developing and undergoing changes, the Covid-19 pandemic created new problems for education systems especially during the lockdown periods. This has affected the lives of indigenous people (Zhirkova, 20026).

The impact of Covid-19 on Indigenous communities varies from community to community. Various pre-existing barriers affect indigenous communities' ability to adapt to the preventive mechanisms undertaken to ensure access to education during lockdown. A report submitted to the International Labour Organization (ILO) in 2020 on the situation of Indigenous Peoples in eleven countries states that;

"This situation of Covid-19 pandemic threatens situation of indigenous children and young persons, particularly those living in rural areas, who cannot access distance learning programs put in place during lockdowns because of limited access to infrastructure, such as internet connectivity and electricity".²

The regions that have access to facilities like South America, where network connectivity is accessible, registered approximately 70% of school completion rate during the pandemic. The countries that registered a low percentage are in Asia, where it is reported that:

"[The] Internet may be accessed if the person has mobile data, and they go to a point in the village where there is [a] signal and since approximately 40% (...) use [a] mobile phone in the community, it is not a guarantee they have access to [the] internet. 1% use [a] laptop and none of them use [a]

² https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---gender/documents/publication/wcms 757475.pdf

desktop and Africa appears as the worst region reporting low levels of accessibility with two countries presented".³

In March 2020, President Yoweri Kaguta Museveni of Uganda addressed the country on Covid-19 situation. In this address, he issued a directive for temporal closure of all education institutions in the country to prevent the spread of COVID-19. This was replaced by the distance and digital/online learning system to ensure that teaching continues at all levels of education (New Vision, 2020). This directive also meant that teachers are involved in providing teaching and learning materials (Lighting Africa, 2020). In many cases, the education institutions offered teaching lessons on the radio; following a school timetable issued by the Ministry of Education (Javira, 2020).

Due to the problem of poor infrastructure, many schools were not prepared for the new digital education system. In Uganda, few households have access to electricity and internet connection. In a 2020 survey conducted by *Lightening Africa* show that 8% of household in rural areas in Uganda have access to electricity (Lighting Africa, 2020). The National Information Technology survey also carried out in 2017/2018 found that a limited number Ugandan households own home appliance such as radio, television, nor a computer. Similarly, on a few Ugandan households own at least 1 mobile phones with internet connection. The majority are unable to use mobile phones due to poor internet connection and high internet service charges (Tumwesigye, 2020). Due to this situation, a majority of students in rural areas are missing out on teaching and learning (Pensiero, 2021).

In Karamoja, most could not afford the cost of electronic and digital services needed to access digital education. Additionally, "88 per cent of parents are illiterate and cannot guide their children in reading and writing at home" (Brown, Kelly & Trevor, 2017). In Uganda, a high percentage of schools are accustomed to physical education. The closure of schools has created a learning deficit for teachers and students below 10 years who require physical guidance from teachers in the early years of their education (Daily Monitor, 2021).

Karamoja is an impoverished area where basic survival needs are limited. Many families and schools are unable to afford the charges associated with Data internet and electricity services.

_

³ https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---gender/documents/publication/wcms 757475.pdf

Furthermore, digital resources such as computers, radios and online teaching tools require prior knowledge and skills, which are lacking among the school teachers in Karamoja (Korugrendo, 2011). Research data by ILO suggest that "approximately 46.6 per cent of adult indigenous persons in employment have no education compared to 17.2 per cent of their non-indigenous counterparts, which means that the likelihood of no education for indigenous peoples is almost 30 percentage points greater than for non-indigenous peoples (ILO 2019).

In light of the findings above, the covid-19 pandemic has taken a toll on students and leaving them with limited opportunities to have access to learning. This has also created inequalities in the regions where digital learning resources are absent. Many of the students from these regions lack the resilience and ability to learn independently. As the covid-19 pandemic continues, education in rural areas is harmed, thereby increasing underlying disparities. The goal of this study is to explore the impact of COVID-19 on education, and to explore the strategies that indigenous communities have adopted to ensure access to education in times of the covid-19 lock-downs. In line with that, the study seeks to find answers to the following research questions.

- 1) What are the challenges and impacts of Covid-19 on the education of Indigenous peoples?
- 2) What possible strategies have been or can be created to respond to the Covid-19 impact by Indigenous people in rural areas in Uganda?

1.6 Relevance

This project provides a critical analysis and reflection on the opportunities and challenges that the pandemic presents to education for Karamojong. The data for this study is gathered from newspaper reports in Uganda. The coverage of the covid-19 situation in Uganda has been wide in local newspapers. Thus, the newspapers provide information on the impact COVID-19 on education in Uganda. This study explores on how the situation has impacted education for indigenous peoples by focusing on the case of Karamojong, and how the crisis has affected teaching and learning in Karamoja.

This project will contribute to research on indigenous solutions to the impact of emergency situations on education in indigenous communities. This research will not only be essential to the cultures, peoples and contexts within indigenous peoples, but will focus on bringing aspirations to me as a student of Indigenous Studies and the program itself on issues relating to

COVID-19 impact on education institutions through investigating the after effect of COVID-19 epidemic on the Ugandan education system.

This project will also be relevant in raising awareness both directly and indirectly to other indigenous communities since it greatly focuses on limiting the educational gap and disparities in education sector caused by providing various strategies that can be taken incase such pandemics exist again.

1.7 Outline of the thesis

This thesis consists of six chapters. Chapter one introduces the background of the study, discusses the experience of education for Karamojong people, and the research questions. Chapter two consists of literature review and theoretical framework upon which this project is conducted. Chapter three has detailed explanations of my methodology and data material, and described how this research was carried out. Chapter four discusses the empirical data and chapter five analyzes the findings in relation to the research questions. Chapter six provides a conclusion and summary of the findings of this study and a reflection on the research questions.

Chapter Two: Literature Review and Theoretical Framework

2.1 Previous research on the impacts of Covid-19 pandemic on education

As the Covid-19 pandemic is still an ongoing phenomenon, there are few scholarly works on the impact of the lock-downs on education for indigenous people. At the time of writing this literature review, some schools were in the process of resuming.

2.2 General overview of Covid-19 pandemic

Corona Virus (COVID-19) is an infectious disease caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus (Singhal, 2020). It emerged in December 2019 with unexplained cases of pneumonia recorded in Wuhan, China (He, Deng & Li, 2020). This disease has caused millions of deaths around the World and has left many people with lasting health complications. It is a contagious disease that spreads through contact with infected persons (Singhal, 2020). Since the outbreak in 2019, every aspect of human life has been affected including the education sector. Rising cases of infections saw the closure of many schools at all, thereby interrupting teaching and learning activities in many education institutions.

In Africa, many schools adopted the online system of education with minimal preparation. The traditional approach to education through classroom teaching was halted for almost two years. This was the situation for many schools in rural areas of Uganda, where disruptions in education affected early childhood education. Almost all education systems had to deploy distance and virtual learning solutions to ensure education continues whilst the schools remained closed. The radio service and national television were used to broadcast lessons in some countries, while teaching materials were also provided online. However, these solutions exacerbate existing inequalities in education, especially in marginalized communities and rural areas. Additionally, the distance learning approached removed the aspect of education that forsters socialization of learners (Huang. Tlili. Chang. Nascimbeni. & Burgos, 2020).

The immediate change from classrooms to virtual classrooms found schools unprepared as they had no time to prepare and adapt immediately to the virtual learning system. This mostly concerns areas that never looked at distance learning as a teaching method. Managing virtual classes and using technology required teachers to be trained for its new development, which

was impossible in some countries. However, in some regions like the United Arab Emirates, the Ministry of education provided e-learning courses to its teachers to manage this form of teaching; this was not possible in other countries like Uganda regarding e-learning (Huang. Tlili. Chang. Nascimbeni. & Burgos, 2020).

Covid-19 did not affect all regions in the same way as some countries incorporated the virtual learning and teaching method in their education system. In countries like Australia and Belgium, virtual learning is implemented with some minimal barriers to full usage of E-learning resources (Nathaniel, 2020). In the United States, "substitute teachers in some states were not receiving salary payments during school shutdowns and risked the loss of benefits".⁴ As this situation left some teachers with no earnings, some teachers demanded school pees payment from parents, and those whose parents were not able to pay the school fees missed the opportunity to learn (Huang. Tlili. Chang. Nascimbeni. & Burgos, 2020)

2.2.1 Pandemics and education disruption

Covid-19 is not the only pandemic that has caused education disruption such as closure of schools. In the United States, between 2011 and 2013, there was a closure of schools due to inclement weather however, the closure lasted four days. However, the overall length of school closure during the Covid-19 pandemic generated a great difference in its existence from other pandemics, as explained below. This section involves pandemics that have led to school closure upon their existence, allowing me to generate the impact that pandemics create on vulnerable communities.

From 2013 to 2016, there was an Ebola pandemic in West Africa, which affected the enrolment of the youth from marginalized in public and private schools. According to Smith et.al (2021), Guinea and Sierra Leone were greatly affected by Ebola and had a high rate of school dropouts of around 17,400 youths. This was because most of the schools were used as treatment centers for Ebola patients, making it impossible for children to attend school. Schools in Guinea, Liberia, and Sierra Leone were closed for seven to nine months, which affected the education process. Smith et.al's study indicate that poor household groups are mostly affected by the pandemic. They are also prone to school disruptions, as they are rather devoted to economic activities for survival and cannot access education (Smith, 2021).

⁴ ILO Secretarial Brief 2020, Covid-19 and education sector file:///C:/Users/bba058/Downloads/ILO%20EDUCATION%20SECTOR.pdf

Ebola and COVID-19 differ in these ways: First Ebola Pandemic was easier to identify and isolate and the infection was greatly among the youth around 25-29 years old and 15–19-year-old. However, during the time of writing this project, I learnt that the infection rate of covid-19 among the youth is low and most patients shows mild symptoms (Berry and Davis, 2020). Secondly, during the outbreak of Ebola, few youths returned to school, and there was rampant stigmatization compared to COVID-19. However, both diseases are similar in terms of emphasizing personal hygiene as a mitigation measure, although "social" (physical) distancing has become associated with the COVID-19 pandemic (Berry and Davis, 2020).

To mitigate the impacts of Covid-19 on education, financial support and other necessary resources were provided to the poor students to ensure they stay in education (Carvalho, 2020). These funds support the necessary resources required by the poor students to mitigate the impacts of Covid-19 on their education. During such pandemics, governments also face short of funds, which force public sector cuts during pandemic outbreaks. The government and education planners need to recognize the effects of the current pandemic on the most marginalized people, and to provide them with the necessary resources to ensure their return to school. This will cut the long-term intergenerational impacts that characterize the pandemics, especially in cases where the closure of schools call for changes in education systems.

2.3 Indigenous People and Education

The first section looks at the general impact of Covid-19 pandemic on education. The section presented marginalized peoples as groups that are greatly affected by the changes brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic. This makes it necessary to expand on the concept of "Indigenous people" and Education in this section. Before doing that, I this section highlights the definition of Indigenous people in Africa and Uganda to put the situation of indigenous peoples in Uganda and Karamoja in the indigenous context. Secondly, the section looks into the issue of Indigenous education and how both concepts can inform a greater understanding.

2.3.1 Indigeneity in Africa

To start with, there is no generally agreed yardstick for defining Indigenous peoples in Africa, as the term "Indigeneity" in Africa is contested by many Africans (ACHPR, 2005). Barume stresses that many African countries contest the various definitions and claim that all Africans can considered as indigenous people on the basis of colonialism. Yet countries such as Ethiopia were not colonized (Stavenhagen, 2009). Many scholars have defined Indigenous Peoples differently, since indigeneity differs from content to context (Dahl, 2012). Barume stresses that

the debates that occurred around the definition of indigenous people, which led the adoption of the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous (UNDRIP), sought the agreement of African countries on the terms of defining indigenous peoples (Stavenhagen, 2009). Regardless of the contestations surrounding the term Indigenous peoples, some definitions that define Indigenous Peoples in the African context are seen below.

Saugestad (2008) defines Native Africans as first comers, non-dominant, and different in culture from the white 'intruders', and describes the natives as the colonized. This implies a distinction between the colonizer and the original inhabitants of the territories. It does not imply that all indigenous people were colonifzed, since countries like Ethiopia were not colonized. The International Labor Organization convention 169 (ILO) adopted in 1989, defines Indigenous Peoples as "People in Independent countries, who were regarded as Indigenous, on account of their descent from populations which inhabited the country, or a geographical region to which the country belongs at the time of conquest, colonization or the establishment of present status, retain some or all of their social, economic, cultural and political institutions" (Sissons, 2005)

Furthermore, the UNDRIP special reporter J. Matinez Cobo identified Indigenous Peoples as: "Indigenous communities, people, and nations are those which, having a historical continuity, with per invasion and pre-colonial societies that developed on their territories consider themselves distinct from other sectors of the societies now prevailing in those territories or parts of them" (Sissons, 2005). This definition outlines four criteria for defining indigenous peoples: cultural distinctiveness, priority in time, and self-identification (UNDRIP, 2007).

These definitions emphasized the issue of self-identification, which created room for the African that met the above criteria to have authority within their tribes and ethnic groups to self-identify as indigenous. However, Cobo argues that separating Africans into indigenous and non-indigenous groups instead creates separate classes of citizens, with different rights (UNDRIP, 2007).

In his discussion of indigeneity, Coates states that; Indigenous Peoples are composed of present descendants of territories formerly colonized partially or wholly by outsiders, but who presently live-in conformity to former colonial structures that are administered by nation states in which they live (Coates, 2004). These definitions all emphasize self-identification and look at the colonization aspect, but this leaves the African countries like Ethiopia, which was not colonized, as indigenous. Besides not being colonized, some people perceive themselves as

Indigenous. The above definitions also undermine many people who are considered or must have suffered within the conquest and marginalized or isolated (ACHPR, 2006).

Indigeneity in Africa is greatly placed under cultural, ancestral customs and traditions different from the dominant society. All this could be used to characterize them as "Indigenous." This is evidenced by the African Commission on Human and Peoples Rights that came up with a new criterion for defining indigenous people in Africa. It also elaborates on the rights of indigenous peoples in respect to the survival of their traditional ways of life and their right to traditional lands and natural resources. Indigenous people in Africa suffer from discrimination from dominant societies because of their traditional way of living to preserve their cultures, and most are found in isolated regions (ACHPR, 2006).

2.3.2 Indigenous Peoples of Uganda and Karamojong Indigenous People

The term 'Indigenous people' is a complex term to define, as it applies differently to different ethnic groups in Africa. However, in light of the definitions above, the Ugandan government does not explicitly recognize the term Indigenous Peoples in relation to indigenous groups in Uganda. The term bears no definition under international and the regional human right law (IWGIA, 2011). However, it recognizes some internationally accepted indicators that help define Indigenous People such as the right to self-identification interpreted in most international law definitions. Some of the Indigenous People in Uganda include the Benet, the Batwa, the Ike, the Karamojong, and the Basongora. All of them reside within the borders of Uganda and are characterized by their traditional hunter-gatherer and pastoralist cultures.

Moreover, some of the characteristics specified above in defining Indigenous People are not applicable in identifying Indigenous Peoples of Uganda. First, Indigenous communities in Uganda have experienced the form of colonization that created historical injustices such as the loss of their lands. Some of their lands that were originally the grazing areas of the people were transformed into national parks. This links with Coate's (2001) definition, where he recognized the aspect of colonization in defining Indigenous peoples. Due to colonization, the Northern and Eastern regions remained isolated and disadvantaged, and the people became victims of violence and destruction of homes and properties (Coates, 2001).

Furthermore, the Indigenous peoples in Uganda have been identified as those that are attached to their traditional way of living. They are mostly pastoralists and hunter-gatherers and have

been recognized by the Indigenous rights movement due to their experience of dispossession of land and natural resources by the dominant groups (ACHPR, 2005).

Lastly, Smith et.al (2021) state that pandemics greatly affect poor and marginalized students when it leads to school closures. The virtual learning system creates a high rate of exit from the education system since many of such students are unable to afford the cost of digital tools required to participate in virtual learning (Smith, 2021). The situation of indigenous peoples of Uganda is characteristic of this challenge. Having been denied of their means of subsistence through the dispossession of their ancestral lands and natural resources, the Karamojong people are separated from the rest of Uganda, resulting in their continued impoverishment. They remain victims of social and political exploitation, while the 1995 constitution does not offer any significant protection to them as Indigenous People (IWGIA, 2019).

Most indigenous people are found in rural areas of the country and most of them are poor like the North-Eastern part of the country where the Karamojong reside. The high rate of poverty in that region compels the government to seek fund to support and help in the development of the marginalized communities through the implementation of sustainable development initiatives (The World Bank, 2015). In Karamoja families are often unable to support their children to learn at home because many families have low literacy skills. The only option for many families is to send their children to work. This is the reason why most schools in Karamoja commonly engaged in physical schooling to keep the children away from being forced by their families to work.

As can be seen above, the concept of indigeneity is relative. It is centered on a sense of distinctiveness and cultural coherence for those who live in remote or distinct locations and pursue a traditional lifestyle that is not consistent with modern societies. It concerns people who speak a distinct language, who struggle with/against concurrent claims for government authority, and who self-identify as belonging to a place before its annexation or colonization (Jacob, 2014)

2.3.3 Indigenous Education

Education also makes it more challenging as most countries and regions define it from their perspective. However, to provide a foundation, there have been different definitions regarding this term. I started by defining the term indigenous and thus looking at indigenous education. According to Jacob et al. (2014), when involving Indigenous concept, one should consider the relationship tied to the land, as people are spiritually connected to their language, culture, and

identity. However, in the context of education, "Indigenous education" is define as the path and process of nurturing future leaders. It entails Indigenous people gaining knowledge about the ways to preserve their indigenous cultures. They do this through scholarly materials like books about their history that are written for the future generation (Jacob. 2014). Through the means of education, Indigenous peoples can elevate their communication regarding technologies and the diverse ways of knowing about their needs and rights, and be able to speak and act on behalf of their people (Jacob. 2014).

However, like language, identity, and culture form part indigenous education. This form of education is a communal process that involves interactions among all members of the indigenous community. Indigenous education was adopted to create sustainable communities with the West-dominated education systems by allowing formal structures to stand. However, Jacob et al. (2014) state that the globalization of indigenous education has both negative and positive consequences. Education involves learning technologies that enable people to share ideas and knowledge. Due to intermarriages between the indigenous and non -indigenous peoples, to understand one's ancestral background can be achieved through learning one's background and one's heritage.

Also, in terms of understanding legal rights in regard to services and land regarding indigenous people, education has also created this opportunity. Jacob et al. (2014) also state that education has been used at the "detriment" of indigenous people's language, culture, and identity. This has been done through preservation policies implemented by the government with the intention of unifying nations to create communal equality. However, conflict still rise when dominant education systems favor prevailing languages and individuals rather than indigenous principles and practices that reflect their languages and arts, which represent many indigenous societies.

Indigenous education aims at a global view to enable indigenous peoples to develop an independent way of knowing. However, many non-indigenous scholars have written histories of indigenous peoples from outsider perspective, which affect the knowledge produced. This is because some information in the literature is left out. The involvement of indigenous scholars provides the insider knowledge required to understand one's heritage.

Jeff Lambe.et.al (2003) also detail what indigenous education entails. They define indigenous education as a way through which traditional knowledge, culture and language of indigenous

people are developed and connected to make indigenous people "human beings". ⁵ Jeff Lambe.et.al (2003) state that Indigenous education facilitates an understanding of the differences in indigenous education. For Indigenous education to exist they state that the involvement of academic institutions and individual relationships between the mentor and the individual is important. His emphasized-on perquisites for Indigenous education by assessing different situations for indigenous education to concentrate on. The most important aspect they concentrated on is in the area of validity and "diversity", ⁶ which can be equated to the truth. Indigenous education enables us to know the nature of the world and cultures in the social world and know their place of creation (Jeff. L, 2003).

2.3.4 Indigenous Education in Africa

The African continent is characterized by diverse languages and culturally distinct nation states and indigenous peoples who share similarities as being traditional, tribal and transnationally displaced people (Jacob, 2014). Despite the diverse languages, there are shared languages that were imposed during colonial rule. The mother tongue languages are commonly practiced at home, while the shared languages are used in schools. Many indigenous languages have been codified into written forms. However, this creates a political difficulty and is linguistically challenging, as the amount spent in formal institutions is more and thus as it increases, the statue of knowledge grows, lessening the mother tongue at the sometime. However, African schools mostly serving high numbers of indigenous youth are characterized with limited resources per learners in Africa.

Education is looked at as a system introduced by "Western powers" i.e., the colonial masters and missionaries when they first arrived in Africa. As previously mentioned, African Indigenous education is not easily defined, just as the term 'Indigenous' lacks a generally accepted definition. However, Anthony et al (2021) also gives an African perspective that derives from African traditional education. The traditional form of education is developed locally by elders with the intention to instill cultural values and norms to members of the society. This means that the indigenous education in Africa focuses on the transmission of local knowledge to serve local purposes, and to pass cultural values from one generation to another.

_

⁵ Jeff used this term to give reasons why he went to school, he said, "He went to school so that they would honor him as a human being"

⁶ a person coming to know for themselves, on their own terms, guided but not directed by a mentor or role model, regardless of whether one is a Native or non-Native person or what nation one comes from

The knowledge is taught at all levels of a person's life - from childhood to stages of graduation (Anthony, 2021). This has produced experienced members of the indigenous society.

All the definitions above indicate that African education aims at teaching African traditional knowledge and skills, which are commonly transmitted through practical learning or orally to address issues within indigenous communities. When indigenous education is achieve, the skills acquired can be used for self-employment and maintaining the community's socioeconomic and cultural structures. African Indigenous Education system faces challenges such as a lack of literacy and technological aspects. This is so because states are not promoting societal cultures like the way they promote the country culture (Anthony, 2021).

2.3.5 Right of education to indigenous peoples

As this project focuses on issues of education and language, I will also look at Indigenous people's rights from a general perspective. Article 15 of the (1993) Draft Declaration of Indigenous Peoples states that:

"All indigenous peoples ... have ... the right to establish and control their educational systems and institutions providing education in their own languages, in a manner appropriate to their cultural methods of teaching and learning. Indigenous children living outside their communities have the right to be provided access to education in their own language and culture. States shall take effective measures to provide appropriate resources for these purposes" (May & Aikman 2003).

This right entails the need for the state to provide resource. However, indigenous communities are characterized by their vulnerability and there has been less concern for their development by states like Uganda.

The UNESCO advocates for the establishment of government-supported education policies on "inclusive education," where emphasis is placed on equal learning opportunities. The report states that indigenous peoples are vulnerable in areas such as education, cultural disintegration, migration, displacement, residential segregation, gaps in access to technology, and ownership of media outlets". It suggests to governments to create flexible models of education that accommodate both cultural and social diversity, as well as developing community-based models of formal and informal learning across generations.

2.3.6 Online learning and Indigenous Education: Challenges

The use of online learning has been a major challenge even before the Covid-19 pandemic. This is seen in research conducted by Rebecca A. Clothey (2015) on the impacts of online learning and the challenges that indigenous people have faced with the online learning system. Online learning has become common in many education sectors across the World. However, the rate of growth is low in terms of internet usage. The World states' report (2011) shows a percentage of 40.4%, with the largest users located in Europe, Asia and North America, while Sub-Saharan Africa is at the bottom (James, Cheng & Porter, 2015)

The differences in the user rate of online learning income is seen in other terms such as race, ethnicity and location. However, online learning is provided freely in some areas with problems of poor infrastructures and the inability of the end-users to apply online learning information. Thus, online learning will remain inadequate (James, Cheng & Porter, 2015). Based on that, their study indicate that rural areas, where many minorities are located, mostly have poor infrastructures than the urban areas.

Furthermore, most of the e-Learning frameworks and materials are written in English, and thus most African local languages are not represented. This creates learning difficulties for minorities in rural areas. Africa has different ethnic minority populations with various languages; English materials may not easily help if online learning is associated in such areas as they would need translation to understand the teachings still (Cheng & Porter, 2015). The research showed that using online learning in underserved indigenous communities increases the digital divide. They state that areas with low internet penetration and with poor audio transmission especially in remote communities will find difficulties in accessing education.

This suggest that emerging challenges related to the use of digital learning have created an inconsistent Indigenous education for students in Africa, where by 2009 only 8.7% could access internet through desktop computers. Another focus on existing inequalities and poverty in remote communities show how it creates challenges with digital programs, as well as the problem of funding which increases the costs associated with digital education (James, Cheng & Porter, 2015).

2.4 2.4 Theoretical Framework

The education landscape is shaped by many factors that increasingly impact the lives of people in different ways. There are underlying opportunities and threats to cultural and ethnic existence, and the response approach that societies takes to adapt to these new challenges are

inadequate, since many societies are attached to their land, beliefs and cultures. These changes have negative developmental impacts. This chapter will discuss the concepts of education, decolonization, power relation, and resilience. These concepts complement each other in understanding how indigenous communities have handled the covid-19 pandemics.

2.4.1 Education and decolonization

The definition of education depends on the terms it is associated with. Education is understood differently in terms of learning and teaching, which allows a person maintain a sense of physical, social and cultural being. Education can be carried out in a formal or informal way (Curtis, Ward, Sharp, & Hankin, 2013). In case of the formal approach, the process of teaching requires setting up structures like classrooms. The informal approach involves e-learning tools like radios, mobile phones, and computers designed by the government, with an assessment process that leads to the award of certificates.

Education is also a collective effort of the government, teacher and schools, and parents (Curtis, Ward, Sharp, & Hankin, 2013). Developments in information and communication technology will facilitate online and virtual classes. However, this approach to education creates opportunities to access information in from anywhere, although it may not allow for practical subjects in science projects that require practice in a laboratory (Curtis, Ward, Sharp, & Hankin, 2013).

Even if formal learning requires learners with potentials and physical structures such as schools, colleges, and universities, the extent to which it can operate requires appropriate learning techniques and a share of responsibilities between teachers and students to attain it. Digital learning can incorporate formal changes but through appropriate funding strategies, education policies, and technological initiatives that align with the changing world (Curtis, Ward, Sharp, & Hankin, 2013).

2.4.2 Decolonization

The concept of decolonization and indigenous education stem from the shared experiences of indigenous peoples in ensuring their development against the influence of power and control brought about by colonialism. In present days, efforts have been taken by Indigenous communities to create processes of preserving their traditions through education. Through decolonization, Indigenous communities have incorporated learning through the creation of traditional/nomadic schools (Zhirkova, 2006). Therefore, decolonization in the context of education focuses on identifying how colonization has impacted education. It also focuses on

unsettling colonial structures, systems, and power dynamics in educational contexts where indigenous peoples reside.

Decolonization in education involves various kind of teaching in the informal to formal setting. It concentrates on the sociocultural approach to understanding and functions in Uganda's education system in the formation and transmission of knowledge (Pratt, Louie, Hanson, & Ottmann, 2018).

Given the importance of decolonization, education has transformations as Indigenous peoples are opting for self-determination, social justice, and democracy. More so, decolonization has led to the indigenization of education, where emphasis is placed on maintaining indigenous knowledge, traditions, culture. This is a primary focus on issues relating to attaining their democracy and social justice as part of self-determination (Pratt, Louie, Hanson, & Ottmann, 2018). However, though most nation-states have not paid attention to these concerns, many have turned to international law (Pratt, Louie, Hanson, & Ottmann, 2018).

Decolonization has contributed to education it enabled Indigenous people to have representation and be at the forefront to arguing for better treatment, recognition, and restitution for historical injustices. More broadly, it created space for the recognition of indigenous people's self-determination within nation-states (May & Aikman 2003).

2.4.2 Power relations and distinctions in education

To explore these complex issues, I refer to Terry Wotherspoon et al's (2015) definition of power relations in education. According to them, "power relations shape and regulate the operation of educational practices that are concealed by adherence to principles of democracy and notions of scientific standards of truth and objectivity, so that success and failure come to be attributed more to individual initiative than to structured inequalities". They provide different dimensions for understanding and examining the relations of power and education that are affected by social positioning and scholarship around the world, which create status and privileges among classes of people (Jacob, Cheng & Porter, 2015).

Power and social positioning around economic resources influence concerns over economic resources within each social area. Both formal and informal indigenous education resources are generated by nation states and thus, these determine the kinds of assets and capacities that help in ensuring continuity. The concerns show that efforts from indigenous peoples and minority representatives play a great role in what is achieved. This theory does not only look at an equal

distribution of social services to ensure that education services are achieved, but emphasize that when power is properly handled, and all parties participate. In such a situation, there would be no unequal status among people in society setting. This facilitates the efforts of indigenous people and other minorities to gain increased recognition support for education (Jacob, Cheng & Porter, 2015).

The period of colonization influenced the present experiences of indigenous communities, as they had to be integrated into the dominant groups and institutions. The institutional setting and education system follow prescribed rules within specific country and decided by the state. Bourdieu stresses that as power exists, it can be influenced by interest, representation, and preferences of the state. In Uganda, the government implements laws that the representatives in the government first debate on. However, the debates focus on the urban area where the dominant people live.

Power plays a larger role in increasing the resources that are important for education, although each institutional area has its expectations. However, it still ensures that there's support if pandemics occur. This includes supporting the areas that need emergency assistance such as creating relationships for education to continue even in times of school closure. For example, they can take part in the distribution school materials in public schools. This is possible if the state and its peoples establish good relationships. (Bourdieu 1990, pp. 80–81).

The field of education is greatly influenced by power struggles and strategies that need to be adopted for its development. Contemporary societies mostly demand that the curriculum can be differentiated to access some type of knowledge. However, this request is mostly denied. This is viewed as restricting some type of knowledge of cultures of individual societies that should be taught (James, Cheng & Porter, 2015). These dynamics have consequences for some segments of the population, as it favors the interest of the majority.

Power relations also shape and regulate the operation of educational practices by following principles of democracy that relate to truth and objectivity. The outcome reflect individual contribution rather than structural inequalities (James, Cheng & Porter, 2015). This indicates that whenever education performance in Karamojong is low even when power is handled properly, the responsibility for poor performance during lockdown periods would be placed on the students for not making use of the opportunities provided by the state.

In conclusion, the overview above enables us to see that education, decolonization and power align when appropriate strategies are taken into consideration for all the population. This is

especially the case when democracy and hierarchy follow changes in education. These have less impacts in periods of pandemics that affect education systems.

Chapter Three: Methods and Data

3.1 Introduction

In this chapter, I discuss the methods I used to gather data for this study. Here, I explain how data was collected and processed to arrive at the findings of the study. I will also highlight the experiences and challenges I encountered in the process of gathering and processing the data. The main source of data is newspapers, combined with the content analysis method. In adherence to the ethical consideration and research regulations, I discuss my position as a

researcher in relation to the focus of the research, and how that influences my analysis of the

data gathered for this study.

3.1 3.2 Data sources

The main source of data for this research are secondary sources by way of newspapers. A total of five Newspapers from Uganda were used. These include the Daily Monitor, New Vision, the Observer, the Independent, and Cyclone Times. Although there are many newspapers in Uganda, these selected newspapers are among the few that are easily accessible online for free. Some of the other newspapers available online require paid subscription before they can accessible. However, I had no funds nor funding from the University to pay for the subscription. This limited me to the five selected newspapers mentioned above. Furthermore, some Newspapers in Uganda are not published online, and accessing them would require my physical presence in in the country, which was not possible due travel restrictions brought about by the

presence in in the country, which was not possible due travel restrictions brought about by the

Covid-19 global outbreak.

I gathered the data in the period between 2020 and 2021. This period was a period when the Covid-19 outbreak had peaked. At the same time, the Newspapers had no descriptive year search engine which limited me to obtaining data before those periods and specific months but using that from that period. This limited my access to data before Covid-19 occurrence relevant

to the project.

New Vision is a government-owned Newspaper in Uganda that publishes in English-language.⁷ It is published daily in print form and online. The Monitor is an independent English newspaper

⁷ https://www.newvision.co.ug/

23

published online.⁸ The Observer is a Ugandan weekly Newspaper, and it is one of the largest privately-owned newspapers in the country. It is also published in English language. The Independent is a newspaper that covers general and business news. It was established to provide independent platforms for reporting and discussing public issues. It covers the East African regional news and publishes in English. I used one article from this newspaper.⁹ The Cyclone Times is a private newspaper in Uganda, published in English.¹⁰

3.2 Content Analysis

The content analysis method revolves around knowledge generated from the study of contents obtained from texts and speeches to develop meanings and intentions contained in messages (Krippendoff, 2018). Furthermore, Boréus and Bergström consider it an unobtrusive method of social research as it is used to study sensitive topics to corroborate findings attained by other methods (Boréus, K., & Bergström, G, 2017). In contrast, Kerlinger (1986) defined content analysis as a "method of studying and analyzing communication in a systematic, objective, and quantitative manner for the purpose of measuring variables" (Kerlinger, 1986).

These definitions of Content analysis methods focus on the authors of messages and show emphasis on objectivity and validity when interpreting communications from texts to obtain meaning from various recipients and authors as it provides interest in analyzing different kinds of written texts and pictures. Boréus and Bergström state that any kind of text can be content analyzed and understood from a wide range of themes presented in Newspapers. Content analysis explores and analyses the arguments presented in Newspapers and magazines to draw the presence of different disciplines and expressions from various media regarding changing trends (Boréus, & Bergström, 2017). It is also suitable for finding patterns from larger body of materials, especially in Newspapers, to retrieve the number of articles published and reduce them into categories from complex classifications.

In dealing with content analysis, Stempel states that one must follow four methodological issues such as "selection of units of analysis, developing categories, appropriate sampling content, and checking the reliability of coding (Stempel, 1989)."

_

⁸ https://www.monitor.co.ug/

 $^{^9~{\}rm https://www.independent.co.ug/report-health-education-and-tourism-hit-hard-by-covid-19/}$

¹⁰ https://cyclonetimes.com/

In conducting this study, I set my research questions and objectives of the project that I explored in my first Chapter. This enabled me to focus on the aspect of the content I attained when searching online to obtain data that is relevant to my research.

Secondly, Content analysis looks at selection of topics regarding the project to be able to answer the research question (Boréus, & Bergström, 2017). Boréus and Bergström stress that from a set topic of the project, the research must obtain and streamline the data collected (Boréus, & Bergström, 2017). This helps in gaining meaning in each content presented in the texts. By obtaining each theme after interpretation of texts, the small texts create a greater understanding of the empirical data. To be able to access the idea of all the texts will require a focus on the differences and similarities within the Newspapers articles chosen, and then formulate a set of topics that are relevant for the project (Boréus, & Bergström, 2017). Using content analysis enabled me to lower the number of articles and assess their differences and similarities in terms of different topics (Järvinen & Mik-Meyer, 2020).

I incorporated content analysis by reading through all the newspaper articles chosen for the study. After that, I arranged the contents according to the period of publication and created a list of topics and concepts from the articles from which I can develop meanings and interpretations from the data (Gilje, 2020). After reading through my data, I applied a "systematic classification process of coding and identifying themes and patterns" from all the news articles. This enabled me to efficiently yield the data needed to answer the research question (Hsieh & Shanon, 2005). This process is referred to as a "coding frame" (Järvinen & Mik-Meyer, 2020).

The process of content analysi enabled me to conduct preliminary examinations of the various topics and data presented in the Newspaper articles. In analyzing my data, before coding down, I wrote down the definitions of each case in each Newspaper article to create the content categories. In doing so, I focused on individual participation, community involvement, and views represented by the indigenous community of the study population to incorporate the indigenous knowledge and represent their cultural values. This enabled me to obtain various themes relevant in answering the research question, hence obtaining the objective of this project.

In my research, I tried to locate the Karamojong representation or minority point of view. I focused on the impact of Covid-19 through a hermeneutic approach that concentrates on "unique principles and procedures to interpret and understand social phenomena" in a

methodological setting (Gilje, 2020). This enabled me to create categories as the researcher by using a systematic classification process of coding and identifying themes to answer the research questions of this project (Hsieh & Shanon, 2005).

3.3 Ethics, reflexivity, and positionality

In writing about research ethics, Abukari Kwame states that "due to the past experiences of indigenous peoples and their communities, issues of reflexivity, ethics and self-locating are critical components of the indigenous research paradigm which researchers must openly declare". These concepts relate to self-locations as a concept that ensure that the researcher is not influenced by the research process. This is to enable the researcher to be open-minded while conducting research. I have looked at these concepts below respectively to indicate how I used them in this study.

3.3.1 Ethics

To conduct research with indigenous peoples often requires many ethical approvals depending on the context they reside. This could be either from universities, national governments, indigenous people's communities, or the respective country where indigenous people reside. These ethical issues help the researcher obtain the necessary approvals and be respectful to the indigenous people's experiences such as traumatic experiences from past research engagements.

Before starting this research, I applied for approval from the Norwegian Data Protection Office for Research (NSD). An approval was granted after fulfilling all ethical requirements. The requirements of NSD involved determining the category of people students are going to work with. However, there is no category of indigenous peoples. Rather, they are a vulnerable group of people with whom caution must be taken with conducting research for. Thus, NSD also requires the fulfilment of necessary ethical requirements before research can proceed. Caution is taken to ensure that data collected about the people are stored both safely and legally. This is to ensure that the end results especially negative consequences of the study are reduced (NSD, 2020).

I adhered to the principles of respect, relationality, reciprocity, and responsibility in designing a framework to govern my actions and reactions during this process. This is important especially when collecting data from documentary sources that greatly focus on indigenous organizations (Chilisa, 2020). As a researcher, following these concepts earlier at the beginning of this chapter, my interests were a second priority to that of the community I was working

with. My approach was guided by Linda Tuhiwai Smith's argument that any research project must be thoroughly considered, not merely as a single contribution to the body of academic knowledge, but rather in respect of indigenous peoples' interests and needs (Smith, 2012). I had to respect the decision of the informants. I also had to provide the names of the Newspapers I used. At the time, I respected the authors. I did not include their names because the data presented was governed by the institutions that oversee the respective newspapers. I had to provide the names of the Newspapers I used. I presented in my research and made sure that my presentation of the data respected the Indigenous community this study focuses on. Some of the data I used were presented by the Indigenous community themselves. An example is the Karamojong resilience organization's website (karamojaresilience.org).

Maurstad raised concerns about ethics and politics of research, saying that researchers must know the social and cultural context that knowledge is embedded to know what to protect and reveal (Maurstad, 2002). As a researcher from Uganda, with some knowledge of the study population, I am familiar with the context and I aware of my responsibility to conduct research with the Indigenous people. I had to present and select the Newspapers that were useful and transparent without personal concerns or politically induced articles. I understand that including political aspects was not my goal but to raise concern regarding the knowledge of this pandemic, and ensuring that the concerns of indigenous peoples are presented.

Furthermore, dealing with online data, especially from newspapers, involves data that have been coded already. Thus, such data are not first-hand information, as some critical data are left out. However, since the project was carried out during Covid-19 period, and during election time in Uganda, many articles were politically oriented. The newspaper publications around that time were biased against the government. As a researcher, knowing that the existence of Covid-19 occurred during the election period, I was aware of the political bias in newspaper publications, and my aim was not to oppose the government but rather to raise the concerns presented that are helpful to Indigenous communities. This has influenced the type of data I gathered, since I had to ignore some parts of the research findings and concentrate on the data that are relevant to my research questions.

3.3.2 Positionality

According to Anna-Lill Drugge, a researcher's origin or position within the colonial academic structures has a significant impact on the nature of research (Drugge, 2016). Based on that, self-positioning regarding the field of study is of importance. Kwame illustrates this by providing

examples to show his reflexivity (Kwame, 2017). He stresses the need for a researcher to position himself to limit the conflict of interest with the project. This is to enable transparency when conducting research and to present the experience of indigenous peoples (Kwame, 2017).

I am part of the Muganda tribe located in the central part of Uganda. This means that I am a non-Karamojong. However, I became interested in the Karamojong community for a number of reasons. While growing up, I always saw the Karamojong people on the streets of Kampala and read news reports about issues concerning their education. Being a person who received formal education in a well-resourced private school, I could see the contrast with the Karamojong region where students' performance is generally low.

As a mother who is writing this academic text, I feel obliged to see to it that the inequalities in education regarding the Karamojong is seen as a need for social justice; where education is made accessible to all regardless of the pandemic situation affecting all regions in Uganda.

3.3.3 Reflexivity

According to Chilisa (2012), reflexivity is the assessment of the influence of the researcher's background and ways of perceiving reality, perceptions, experiences, ideological biases, and interests during the research. This is so because the researcher is the main data collection instrument, and the one who analyses, interprets and reports the findings (Chilisa, 2012). This concept indicates that the researcher should follow and respect the norms of the indigenous community that he/she is conducting research with.

I am not coming from the Karamojong community, but I don't pretend to think of myself as someone from outside of the ongoing system and what the indigenous people are experiencing in terms of education in Uganda. However, being a Ugandan makes me an insider to the settler-indigenous relationship in Uganda. This has helped me to identify the origin of various authors, especially those from the study population.

Studying indigenous studies has widened my understanding of what rights indigenous peoples have, which motivates the need to do this research (Crawhall, 2011). The Karamojong community is a wider group of indigenous community. The group bears many documented platforms and many researchers have done research about them. This was beneficial in obtaining the information I needed for this study. There have been advancements in the background and education sector in Karamojong.

3.4 Challenges

Since the Covid-19 pandemic is still ongoing, there is a challenge of finding research publications about it. Many researchers could not have access to the field due to the restrictions that were put in place to limit its spread. This is a challenge I also encountered. The restrictions limited the relationship between the researcher and the field, with some advantages. Some information presented might not represent real situations on the ground. Some of the information would be relevant if one met the people who worked in their communities to take their own views.

To start with, this research was expected to involve interviews, but the interviews could not be carried out due to travel restrictions. I had to switch to online data since I could not get feedback directly from the participants. I also did not receive the funding I needed to access other Newspapers with paid subscriptions. Most of the newspapers in Uganda required subscription in order to access past information about Covid-19, except what is presented to the public in news reports. This limited my search as I only used those I could access, and yet some important data would be gotten from those other newspapers I used and would give a broader view.

Another challenge I encountered was the effectiveness of information provided in newspapers on different websites in Uganda. In Uganda, many authors and reporters freely release information on these websites as there are quite limited restrictions on what information they provide. In addition to that, most of the information they provided are biased towards their interests. Thus, I have a challenge in selecting whose data to use and not to use.

Chapter Four: Analysis and Discussion

4.1 Introduction

This chapter focuses on the impacts of Covid-19 on education. It contains detailed analysis of the Newspaper articles, i.e., the 25 articles gathered from 5 newspapers. Initially, all articles focus on the impact of COVID-19 on education. The chapter is divided into three sections. The first section shows the Impact of Covid-19 on the education of indigenous people. This is separated into sub-section that show the positive and negative impacts. The second section shows the possible strategies that are provided to respond to the impact of Covid-19. The third section shows the contribution of indigenous people in ensuring the continuation of education before the schools' closures. These findings relate to the main research questions and the minor question stated in chapter one. In this chapter the word is used to refer to the communities in Karamojong.

4.2 Impacts of covid-19 on education as represented in the Newspapers on indigenous peoples.

The Daily Monitor newspaper showed students of Lokares Primary school who were having Physical education (PE) in a field. The expression of the kids showed a discomfort as some were not in shoes. In contrast, no one wore school uniforms or sports uniforms for this activity (Daily Monitor, January 10, 2021). The newspaper also showed the discomfort that the Karamojong region faces regarding the free education offered in this region. The Daily Monitor (2021) points out the existence of few schools and the challenge of qualified teachers to enhance the learning process with less educated children. Thus, the paper shows that the government concentrates more on urban regions and leaving out the rural areas in the aspect of development. The rural schools are characterized by low quality public schools and negative attitudes towards education.

First, the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic created a change, as it was accompanied by a total closure of schools to reduce its spread. This has never happened before in the country expressed by these newspapers. Besides the need to ensure education continuity, the Ministry proposed a response plan that involved the use of distance learning. E-learning technology was incorporated, and this was followed by the Ministry of Education and sports directive on the use of television, radios and internet (New Vision, July 28, 2021). The Ministry took up a responsibility of distributing home study materials to learners in areas that could not access the

public Radio and television (UBC). This included schoolbooks and putting various attempting questions in newspapers for students to practice (Daily Monitor, January 03, 2021). The Daily Monitor newspaper report (2021) showed that the Ministry of education printed 5.4 million copies of study materials for primary and lower secondary learners (Daily Monitor, May 17, 2021).

The Daily newspaper displayed a picture of a girl holding the study material, and the writer expressed that she was in her final grade of primary school¹¹. The joy of receiving this learning kit expressed on her face with smiles gave her hope that she would continue school. However, the author showed that the family has no radio and thus she would miss out on the lessons taught on radio. Despite that, she will have a chance to continue learning using the learning kit materials.

However, online studies were encouraged, where teachers could be able to teach directly to their students even when at home. Parents were encouraged to help in ensuring that the pupils can take up their duties in doing their homework and taking lessons as scheduled (Daily Monitor, June 11, 2021). In the same newspaper, the writer indicated that the government also assured the people that there would be a distribution of radios to rural areas to ensure that pupils could attend their lessons as per the schedule plans for all levels of education periodically.

With all the above, the concept of impacts presentation within this field and the data available looks at two side effects. The newspapers presented the positive and negative impacts that covid-19 has had on the education system in Uganda indigenous peoples. I will start by presenting the negative impacts.

4.2.1 Problem area 1: E- learning creating inequality in access to education

The Monitor newspaper indicated that there is an unequal distribution of internet services in Uganda, which makes it impossible for student to embrace e-learning in all areas. The newspaper presented a statistical figure to support this. It analyzed an urban-rural gap in internet use. The analysis shows that in the rural regions, only a few people could access the internet service. This translates to low number of students of around 14 percent that could embrace e-learning. The newspaper showed the discomfort of changing from the formal schooling. There is high tax charged to access the internet and this limits families, and schools in rural areas to

 $^{^{\}rm 11}$ I could not secure the permission to use the pictures.

access the internet. The report also looked at how expensive the gadgets costs for both the computers, phones, radios that most households have no money to have this and the schools as most are public schools and their level of incomes are low leaving these areas missing on the opportunities for their school and pupils to miss out on the continued education amidst the pandemic. The writer's views focused on the child's right to education as it infringed upon the challenges to accessing the internet and electricity or computer devices (Monitor, July 21, 2021).

Another reporter from Monitor expressed dissatisfaction with e-learning. He mentions that this method has not been fully used in the education sector in Uganda, and only a few schools are accustomed to it. He saw it as requiring more work than the formal teaching method. In practical terms, it requires parents and schools to keep children engaged with academic work than before, when the parent left everything to their teachers. He stresses that online studying has not been easy due to the costs involved, i.e., paying teachers to purchase data is costly. In the article, their figures show how costly it could be, but these costs are not affordable, especially in rural regions where the cost of living is low. The newspaper also expressed the discomfort parents experience and the perception behind using the e-learning method. They expressed the fear of using online learning, which is considered as "an array of online predators". Easy access to pornography through the pop-up adverts is also a concern. With this, the communities which are tied to their cultures experience challenges in incorporating online studies and thus consider the radio and television programs as efficient for them (Monitor, October 2, 2021).

With regards to the aspects of radios and television, newspapers also expressed the discomfort of these too. The New Vision newspaper reports that some large amount of money was released to help in long-distance learning through purchase of radios for all Uganda families. This is to enable children to have continous access to education. The ten statement was quite personal as he said that the money "vanished like a ghost" since the radios did not reach all areas as expected, as well as the printed home materials (New Vision, July 28, 2021). Another newspaper expressed similar concerns, as it looked at the concern of Radios not reaching all poverty-stricken areas especially in rural areas, and discomfort that the Radio, Tv programs are not helping rural pupils (Monitor, May 1, 2020). The newspaper shows that these claims were made when he visited Kamuli and Buyende. The writer expressed the views that people expressed when the Speaker of Parliament of Uganda Ms. Rebecca Kadaga visited. Many claims were made about the characteristics of rural regions in Uganda. Most rural areas have weak tv signal and unreliable electricity supply. As expressed above in regard to the radio

lessons that most rural regions were using, there was still challenges as requests were made that lessons needed to be "localize down" to common radios of all rural areas to effectively help pupils and the parents to easily guide their children (Monitor, May 1, 2020). In most rural regions, it is a luxury for people to own a television, as few homes have electricity but also accessing televisions is not common. The monitor newspaper showed a picture of several children gathering around a television set. There were many children gathered around a single television set, yet lessons were to be adjusted on the television set. They were of different years, which left me wondering who will be first to learn, and the level of concentration will be low as they all will need to stay to watch for the first time (Monitor, June 11, 2020).

Another aspect of the perceived inequalities was the claims that rural areas had poor roads and insecurity in some areas, which lead to inaccessibility to these areas. This leaves many scholars in rural areas unable to receive the opportunity by those responsible to distribute the study materials (Monitor, May 17, 2021). The Monitor newspaper indicates that most of the regions did not have materials delivered to them because the Ministry had run out of materials to distribute. Another reason that was that Agago District was not able to receive these study materials because of the flooded bridge (Monitor, May 17, 2021). However, besides the ninety percent of home-schooling materials distributed, areas such as Karamojong and Kabong districts missed the opportunity based on claims of insecurities caused by cattle rustling.

With regards to the schools found closed, the suppliers returned with the study materials. Similarly, the distribution of radios reached only a few households in rural regions. With regards to those who did not have to wait. There is low or no hopes of continuing studying as their families cannot afford buying radios (Monitor, May 17, 2021). This statement shows that not all schools managed to receive either radios or homework material, thus leading to inequality as many missed this opportunity that would ensure that they continue to receive education.

The AP newspaper indicated that due to Covid-19 pandemic, as well as the need to ensure continuity in education created a lost generation of learners who are familiar with physical schooling. The desire to fit in had consequences that affected students' motivations to study (Ap News November 1, 2021). Another Newspaper showed expression of children who stated that the teachers were fast and gave them no opportunity to ask questions (Monitor, May 1, 2020). These affected the students who were familiar with being in class with these opportunities available. However, these opportunities they cannot be attained yet they must

wait for more lessons without understanding the one before hand. This leaves them behind, and thereby leading to poor performance.

In the case of families that could not access e-learning, their children ended up going to farms to help their parents while school sessions continued. Some of them did not even know that education continued during the school closures. One newspaper showed a kid cleaning gold at Bukana island. This is because of school closure after the Covid.19 outbreak. There was lost hope for children in public schools as they could not afford the requirement or have access to these materials (Monitor, February 01, 2021).

Most of the data gathered from the Newspapers indicated that many schools in rural regions have not started to run online classes to mitigate the impact on learning. This includes students in Karamoja, since running online classes does not seem to be feasible for most rural schools in Uganda due to lack of access to the internet. In other words, the current (ICT) infrastructure and the distribution of access in the urban and rural areas have created inequalities in among Ugandan citizenry. This is especially between students who live in urban areas and those from rural area such as the poor people who can barely afford to access the internet. Considering such divide, the Speaker of Uganda has requested the Ministry of Education and Sports and private schools to not compel children to use online education. Rather, they are advised to device other ways to ensure that the vulnerable in society have education (Monitor, May 01, 2020).

As seen above, to grant equitable access to e-learning for all students in Uganda is a challenge. The sudden shift towards e-learning will further widen the inequality gap and will leave a section of students behind. Similarity, the author of Daily monitor maintains that inequalities existed in accessing education even before Covid-19. The writer provided different cases where he narrates that indigenous or small villages have been left out in areas of development and infrastructure. This did not allow for access to use of digital systems, and hence leaving them out to the new strategies evolving around new technologies (Monitor, April 19, 2021).

4.2.2 Problem Area 2: Covid-19 has led to an absence of physical/formal schooling incorporated with distance model or homeschooling

The newspapers raised concern about physical schooling as it has been the common approach of teaching. In this approach, children were required to attend schools where they gathered to learn different things. The monitor newspaper indicate that Covid-19 has changed their basic

way of life, which involved shopping and going to school to logging on Zoom for online classes (Monitor January 6, 2022). The culture of physical schooling was questioned prior the COVID-19 pandemic as it was to be replaced with home schooling. The newspapers showed that the shift to home schooling was seen as a "bad joke" especially among parents who were not used to seeing their kids at home, while playing the role of teachers even though they were illiterates. It was not possible for them to teach their children at home (Monitor, August 9, 2021).

The observer news also reported that education provides many intellectual and financial benefits to society. Schools also served as a place where children develop mentally, physically, and socially. Without schools, children become susceptible to many environmental risk factors that may impede their development. The writer incorporated this with a picture of a parent trying to teach her two daughters on a computer in a sitting room. These were kids who were used to studying with their friends and now they must be at home to study. This kind of change makes kids miss the school environment and experience loneliness (The observer September 16, 2021).

The newspapers also expressed that studying from home would not be a problem. However, due to the immediate change from the traditional school system, many students in the villages find home school challenging as it requires printed materials, access to internet connectivity and having phones/ laptops/radios/Televisions which were not a requirement to access formal school before Covid-19. As most of them cannot afford these facilities, the school environment becomes more preferable because it takes all that away (The observer September 16, 2021). Another newspaper showed that public schools in Uganda, especially in indigenous communities, were not equipped to go online when the pandemic struck. This led their learners to miss the education opportunities provided (AP News, November 1, 2021).

The observer also showed the importance of formal schooling; the newspapers showed that Uganda is a country where school is valued as it is considered as a place where children know the purpose of studying, have breaks to play with friends and the environment the is purposely built for academic excellence. So, the changes to make home both an academic and learning institution are not only a burden to the home but also affects their level of concentration compared to being at school (The observer September 16, 2021).

Monitor newspaper expressed the toll that home schooling has had on children with special needs. The writer emphasized that schools offered help to learners to study as they were used to being around their teachers who directed them to study. But the changes that were made

created discomfort, as they had to see their teachers online. More concern arouse especially for blind children, since they need physical help to continue learning. Another issue that was indicated is that the schools with children with special needs were most affected, since the schools served as spaces where they are fed and taken care of. The meals encouraged many children to enroll and complete school (Monitor September 16, 2020). However, in another newspaper, the author notes that parents who were used to sending kids to school and did not have to prepare meals at home the kids used to have them at school. The school closure left them with the pain of thinking about how to feed their kids. Yet, they had opened their pockets to zero balance to clear fees dues before Covid-19 (Cyclone Times April 14, 2020).

The newspaper showed the grievances of parents point to the fact that the pandemic has affected their sources of their livelihoods and undermined the prospects for the continued schooling of their children (Monitor, January 03, 2021). Since the Covid-19 outbreak, there were some candidates who had to sit for their final exams. The schools closure disrupted their affected them in a way that they had to postpone the exam to the following year.

Formal schooling did not require the purchase of self-study learning materials, but the change to homeschooling required this. Though the government provided some learning materials, the newspaper articles show that many of the students did not know how to use the learning materials for online education. This is followed by complaints from students about their problem of not understanding the radio and television lessons. Here, a reporter in Monitor showed the arguments that the children also complained about the pace of the teaching offered by the teachers. This means that the majority of students missed the lessons in school in place of doing home chores. The children miss their schools as they were understood personally with each having their own strengths and weakness. In the case of homeschooling, however, this is not possible since the teachers are fast in teaching. They value time for other lessons and programs on the schedule, and consequently leaving other students behind. This leads to poor performance as the students have no one to consult. It also limits feedback from learners to teachers in cases where their parents are not aware of what is being taught (Monitor, January 07, 2021)

Lastly, upon opening after Covid-19, the Ugandan education cycle will have changed in the approach to teaching. This will ensure a shift to remote online learning framework in the teaching curriculum. The positive reports in some newspapers indicated a sudden shift away from the classroom and affects future plans paints for the online learning system even during

post-pandemic. Its impact on the education sector, through the adoption of ICT in learning curriculum review, and in the delivery of higher education programs in Uganda, It is still a long way, considering the bias it faces (Monitor, January 4, 2021).

4.3 Possible strategies to respond to impact of COVID-19 on education

In light of the challenges faced in responding to the impact of Covid-19 on the education of Rural people, the newspaper articles had proposed strategies for responding to the challenges by suggesting a shift to online classes. This suggestion is difficult to achieve in Uganda for the following three reasons.

First, most of the schools have little (or no) experience in conducting online classes especially in rural areas. The Monitor news author expressed this challenge by reporting that most teachers do not seem to have adequate skills to run online classes because they have neither been trained nor have been involved in online teaching in rural areas (Monitor, January 10, 2021). The New Vision paper also states that the government has become preoccupied with issues of national transformation. This has led to a lack of attention to the people in the villages, which explains why they have poor infrastructure. This has also resulted to the absence of private schools in these indigenous communities. The private schools are mostly found in urban areas or cities in the country (New Vision, August 9, 2021).

Secondly, having limited access to internet or technology is accompanied with expensive internet service and poor infrastructure for teachers and school managers are barriers to providing distance learning. Thirdly, many students and parents (including teachers) in the rural areas are not computer literates. Those with computer skills do not have opportunities to work with computers because the societies are unable to afford computers and thus focus on physical schooling.

The physical education is intended to enhance learning abilities. The learning gap caused by distance/online learning, leaves some learners disadvantaged by the system because most pupils are in despair when it comes to online and distance learning. As discussed in the sections above, virtual education, in particular the school education during COVID-19 school closures, is inadequate, fragmented, and uncoordinated. It was pointed out that the repercussions of the school closures on access to teaching and learning resources have significantly widened the gap between the disadvantaged students who reside in the outskirts of the country and those who

reside in the urban areas. In the section that follows, a discussion of the challenges and strategies for addressing the situation is made.

Putting strategies in place to ensure children return to school is importance because children from low-income families are more affected by the COVID-19 school closures. They are affected by interruption in class time and economic uncertainty (Monitor, April 19, 2021). This statement gives indications that the impact of COVID-19 on indigenous people who live below the poverty line will be devastating. Thus, some children from low-income parents will never return to school when schools reopen because they are expected to support their families. Therefore, the challenge for the Ugandan school (Monitor, April 19, 2021). This newspaper points out that authorities should trace all the children who do not return to school and devise strategies to encourage the parents to send their children back to school.

Furthermore, the article states that schools may need to provide flexible learning approaches so that students are not deterred from returning when school resumes. Additionally, schools may consider providing economic support (e.g., hardship fund or scholarships) to students who are worst hit by the pandemic or whose economic condition has been a barrier to attending schools (Monitor, April 19, 2021).

4.3.1 Introducing evidence-based interventions to recover lost lessons

Disruptions in education activities following the school closure will have lasting effect on students. Recovering the lost learning might take a very long time as it requires a carefully worked out recovery plan. To assist students in such a stressful situation, the authority must introduce evidence-based interventions or reform-oriented actions that aim to facilitate the recovery of the lost learning when schools reopen. For this, schools may survey the need of students and design some catch-up lessons (Monitor, April 19, 2021). In other words, this strategy would require that the authority devise measures to cater for a good quality of student intake, perhaps by running extra classes, additional materials or remedial courses in the first year to ensure recovery of lost lessons during the closures (Monitor, June 16, 2020).

4.3.2 Engaging with parents and teachers

The approach of engaging parents and teachers is another strategy that works effectively in situations where parents have undergone formal education. Families are viewed as central to education because they play important roles in children's learning process (The observer,

September 16, 2021). This means that despite the disparities between families in terms of ability to teach children at home, engaging parents in the learning process remains beneficial. This strategy is possible if there is high level of cooperation and collaboration with parents. In that regard, schools may organize periodic workshops and online discussions to inform parents about their curriculum in local languages. On the other hand, teachers should be trained on how to work with parents whose backgrounds are very different from their own (Monitor June 16, 2020). Other suggestions such as the setting a selection criteria for teachers by schools should be considered. Due to the absence of a selection criteria, some teachers were sharing wrong information on televisions, thus suggesting that teachers too need to be trained on the new system (Monitor June 16, 2020).

4.3.3 Using local volunteers and locally trained facilitators to support learning

In cases where the above strategy is not administered because parents have no basic education, especially in the indigenous communities, local volunteers and locally trained facilitators can be used. It is important that local governments and schools work closely with the local communities, especially in cases where schools remain closed (Monitor June 16, 2020).

Some of the impacts outlined by the newspapers include the government's inability to deliver radios, television, and other critical learning materials. This situation results from government's failure to include local community facilitators who are familiar with the region, and could easily deliver the items provided by the Ministry of Education (Monitor, July 19, 2020). Schools can request the local people who are familiar with the local language and culture of students to participate as volunteers. Furthermore, locally trained facilitators might potentially support the education of out-of-school children and young people when they are provided guidelines on how to support the children (Monitor, 25 May 2020). Local facilitators can teach basic literacy and numeracy skills to children who have never been to school or those that have dropped out of school. However, the impact of local facilitators depends on their ability to communicate and use their mother tongue in the teaching and learning process.

4.3.4 Supporting through both online and offline methods

Many respondents indicate that the inequalities that revolve around access to digital devices and internet in Uganda vary between regions and group of students. Most concerns were on the group of students and parents from poor backgrounds or from remote areas where access to digital means and internet is lacking. Most probably the group where parents have access to mobile devices but no access to the internet. Parents and older siblings might not have sufficient

digital literacy to use digital resources. However, the newspaper showed concern that policies and practices introduced should favor all groups effectively if all these are considered.

For example, the first group can be helped if various policies or action plans are introduced to ensure and address individual students' needs. For instance, for most children living in remote areas with no or limited access to digital devices and internet can obtain resources that are accessible to parents, potentially via post-offices or local leaders to deliver to their respective comminutes.

The second group could be supported via radios, television, and text messages. The priority to none or low-tech approaches that are accessible, user friendly, and cost effective is critical to sustain the delivery of education. In many poor, rural, isolated communities, the technologies already at hand are mostly radios, and mobile phones (though few may not use mobile phones). Before considering the latest and new gadgets, utilizing technologies or resources which already exist (and are being used and sustained) in such communities is central.

The Ugandan government runs a few classes on radio and television, but all students do not receive access to such lessons. This is because many indigenous communities have no access to radio and television. It should also be noted that even when rural children have access to lessons on radio and television, it is unlikely that those children will receive adequate assistance from their parents because many parents are illiterate. In this context, local volunteers can be requested to visit children in person (maintaining a social distance) to support them. In order for this to happen, local governments and schools should work together. Another option could be for schools to run face to face classes by implementing measures such as maintaining social distance, students attending classes on a Rota basis, introducing a behavior management policy to comply with social distancing measures, restricting students from sharing items, and making the wearing of face masks compulsory.

Furthermore, special attention should be given to children with special needs, as they may not benefit equally from the strategies mentioned above. Similarly, Covid-19 has affected all areas, and this was also evidenced by a respondent's view on how Entebbe social needs children center was affected by Covid-19 (Monitor September 16, 2020). For instance, virtual classes need to be conducted both in national and local languages. This should include a comprehensive framework to address each student's need while paying attention to parental literacy levels, atypical living situations, physical/mental abilities and learning needs (Monitor, 25 May 2020).

4.3.5 Training teachers to run online classes and consider students' access to technology

In the current situation in Uganda, the online classes offered in a few institutions are running without a proper plan and/or vision. Teachers are simply forced to do the job. This situation raises several questions about whether teachers are able to run online classes. Do they not need training on online teaching? Do all students and teachers have access to internet and digital devices? In this context, one respondent argued that one of the fundamental challenges is that our decision-makers in Uganda tend to assume that everyone has access to the internet. This assumption drives the implementation of the current online education policy. Policy makers tend to ignore the fact that teachers need training to ensure that the new policy of online studies takes place. Furthermore, considering that most people in Uganda, especially from indigenous communities, give priority to their food to sustain their lives during such a crisis. Because of this pandemic, many people are dying of hunger, and some have committed suicide because of the food shortage. In such a context, the internet cannot be expected to be affordable to each student in Uganda. Therefore, the realities on the ground must be taken into consideration before decisions are made.

A teacher from one of the school points out that obtaining efficient online learning outcomes requires teachers to be adequately trained. It also requires students to be equally exposed to online learning resources. Thus, besides imposing the policies, the teacher would be efficient if they were first trained in all areas, irrespective of their location, since the government is aware of the inequalities that exist in the education sector (Monitor, April 19, 2021).

Other actions are needed to be taken to reclaim the losses created by the pandemic in the education sector and to ensure that children in rural areas receive fair opportunities. There is urgent need for increased investment in education by making education a large part of the national budget. Special attention should be paid to the administration of national examinations.

Whereas there has been an improvement over the years in this area, these are likely to regress if enough is not done to bridge the gap that has been created by Covid-19. This gap manifests in the wide disparities between rural and urban school-going children. For instance, many children in rural areas have been at home for one year without going to school (Monitor, June 19, 2020).

The second factor we ought to consider is how to narrow the learning gaps created by Covid-19 through special programs for children in rural areas. This can include improving conditions of learning environments for these children, as well as improving teacher motivation (Monitor, June 19, 2020). Rural areas rarely attract private education investments. That is why sufficient budget for public schools tailored to the needs of rural children is important. The return to school will be affected by the stress that parents have been through in varying degrees. Going back to school is not a matter of announcement that school is open. Where user fees apply, it is also an issue of affordability. However, besides the above strategies, a lot of thinking needs to be done to mitigate the impact of Covid-19 on education, and to close the widening gap between learners as a result of location. This is the time for all stakeholders in education to work together for better results (Monitor, June 19, 2020).

4.4 Positive impact of Moving to digital infrastructure

The story of Covid-19 will forever stay in our minds, though it created challenges and opportunities. However, COVID-19 has made us think of alternative ways to teach students in case similar pandemic situations arise (Monitor, April 27, 2021). Although few schools and universities have run online classes in Uganda, the pandemic has created a drastic change in the education sector in the form of digital classes. Most schools did not have digital classes as explained in the first chapter. Therefore, the government's support to schools strengthens their capacity to run online classes. During this pandemic, the focus was on virtual learning on electronic platforms such as television, radio and online education. This requires a need for support on access to internet and technology, as most students cannot afford these technologies to limit the inequalities. The covid-19 pandemic has led educational administrators and policymakers to create an opportunity for the introduction of new learning modes that can be accessible to everyone, to prepare for emergencies, and to make the system more resilient.

It is assumed that a pandemic of this scale happens in waves and is cyclical and people will need to learn to live with it. Introducing distance learning within the education system as a priority will help facilitate this option, thus will minimize the negative impacts if it is well planned and adjusted to fit into academic calendars as an alternative and innovative learning in education.

4.5 Using Mobile Furniture to keep children in school

For the education sector, innovations have been made to revolutionize the education system. In Uganda indigenous communities have invented a way to see that their children could continue

that are followed to curb the spread of Covid-19. For the education sector, "innovation has been made by indigenous communities in Uganda. This involved the seat pack, a personal bag that turns into a mobile bamboo chair with a writing surface. This is quite favorable to create distancing while limiting the spread of Covid-19 as illustrated in Fig 1" (Monitor, April 27, 2021). The newspaper mentions that the seat packs were tailored to address the challenges faced by schools that lack desks and could find it able to maintain social distancing. This idea was implemented to ensure that a teacher could accommodate more than one student in an area and limit the challenges of long distances from one house to another. "It limits time as it also works as a writing pad as the 600-gram school bag unfolds into a seat" (Monitor, April 27, 2021).

A seat pack is eco-friendly as it turns into a personal bamboo chair with a writing surface creating mobile classroom. The seat pack is 90 per cent cheaper to make and distribute than the traditional-classroom desk. This idea of mobile classroom makes the safest school today and works well especially in rural areas, as it is cheaper and can be created by many people in the community. This has greatly been helpful, and it shows how indigenous communities can contribute to mitigating the impact of the pandemic.

With school closures in Uganda presenting remote learning options such as television and online lessons, the 79 per cent rural schools (aged 6 to 12 years according to Uganda Bureau of Statistics) are left with one option to continue studying. Seat packs have been developed and with school-child feedback and mentorship, the seat packs will be useful if rural communities take them to classrooms upon opening of schools. This is because it meets the pandemic regulations on social distancing and can be used by schools with limited space. Additionally, students can be taught under trees with a comfortable seating arrangement, as it ensures conserving tree cover in the long term (by replacing wood-based furniture with portable, light-weight bamboo seats attached to the school bags.

In the Monitor news report, it is stated that the mobile furniture "will facilitate post-Covid-19 literacy (reading and writing) for 10 million school children by furnishing 200,000 classrooms with seat packs by 2030,". However, besides being useful to most rural areas, it has a challenge of shortage, as the number of seats needed by school outweighs supply capacity. These communities express the view that although it is an important opportunity for them to ensure education continues, they have overwhelming number of children that may not have access to

that opportunity. In light of that, they still need active support from both the local and foreign entities that believe in impactful education for all children.

Chapter Five: Discussion

In this chapter, I discuss and make a reflection on the findings of my research. In light of the research questions, I reflect on how the findings relate with the theoretical framework and will provide a general observation of the analyzed data.

5.1 Has Covid-19 pandemic created challenges to education on Indigenous People of Karamoja?

The study population of this research project is a society that resides within the rural regions in Uganda. The presented analysis shows the inequalities between the urban and rural regions regarding education. These inequalities have come about as a result of decolonization, which has led to many changes introduced in the education system. The result has been the creation of divisions between within schools and between public and private schools. Here, most private schools had introduced the digital learning, and it is in these schools where facilities like computers, and good structures are available. These facilities are often unavailable in government schools located in Karamoja. The government schools are characterized by poor structures, inadequate classes, and challenges with shortage of teachers and school materials.

The Covid-19 pandemic has created both negative and positive impacts, as some people were able to obtain free education materials. The Daily Monitor newspaper reports showed a picture of girl holding the study material, the writer expresses that she is in her final grade of primary school, the joy of receiving this learning kit expressed on her face with smiles gave her hope that she would continue school. However, the author showed that the family has no radio and thus she would miss out on lessons taught on radio. That notwithstanding, she will have the chance to continue learning while using the learning kit materials and radios. A majority of people in Karamoja who did not receive these items are sending their kids to farm or making them help with house chores.

The data dealt with the interaction between Education and power simultaneously. The analyzed data indicated that those responsible for the distribution of materials could not reach all areas. This shows a lack of corporation at the local level. Yet, they have the power to involve the local leaders in Karamoja to ensure that all schools and families gain access to these materials.

The findings also showed that Karamoja has poor infrastructures such as roads. The limits government representatives from delivering the needed education resources to Karamoja.

However, it is still the duty of the government to ensure that roads are developed in these regions. At the same time when power is incorporated effectively, there will be increased resources in such areas, and this will not generate complaints about inadequate resources to support the Karamojong. By so doing, they will not miss out on education opportunities even during school closures.

One of the scholars who looked at the distinctions between power and education has emphasized the aspect of democracy when incorporating new systems in education (James, Cheng & Porter, 2015). This aspects link together in cases where the government need to introduce new systems to ensure that all areas will benefit from them before incorporating them to reduce the inequalities that exist. Although the covid-19 pandemics was an emergency, the government would have taken some time to train the communities that lack skills in the new system. While schools were closed down for a long time, the findings indicate that teachers and parents did not have time to train themselves on the new digital system. This has been the case because they had little or no knowledge about how to use the internet.

5.2 Decolonization and Karamojong peoples

Uganda was colonized by the British from 1894 to 1962. The Karamojong peoples practiced castle rustling and as a result of colonialism. During colonialism, the British set aside grazing lands in the Northern part of Uganda for the Karamojong to graze their animals. Upon attaining independence, the Karamojong were considered nomadic pastoralists (Huisman, 2001). However, they continue to wear their traditional clothing and living their lifestyle. The Karamojong rejected many presidential decrees to change their ways of life and adopt a modern lifestyle. The constant attempts by subsequent governments have made them the target of marginalization by post independent regimes (Kagaha et al., 2009).

The North-Eastern part of Uganda has the last three districts, which are considered the poorest districts in Uganda. Being home to the Karamojong people, Karamoja remains one of the most marginalized and least developed area in the country (UNDRIP, 2005). This historical experience also applies to education policies for Karamojong people. Africa's education entailed preparing children for other responsibilities. They grow into adults under the direction of elders of the society. This form of education aims to instils cultural values and traditions for the society, and is carried out through songs, telling stories, participation in community games and many more (Boateng, 1983). As a result of colonialism, there was continuous process of change where formal education existed and children were taught by professional teachers to

learn new languages, and how to read and write. This formal education was imposed on all with the aim to introduce civilization. However those that resisted the new order are labeled uncivilized and backward (Otiso, 2006).

In Uganda, changes made in education system after colonialism have empowered and enabled peoples in Karamoja to participate in educating their children. As the finding show, efforts have been made to offer free education in areas where low importance is attached to education by the Karamojong.

5.3 Relating Education and power

The study findings show the devastating effects of COVID-19 pandemic on education, as well as the barriers that hinder students and school engagements in online education during the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown. The results show that educational activities were negatively affected due to the pandemic lockdowns. Some of the identified effects include learning disruptions, limited access to learning facilities, especially school materials, and loss of interest in learning among students.

The finding is in line with earlier assertion by Onyema et al., (2020), where he also analyzed the multiple problems Covid-19 pandemic created for the education sector, including the adoption of digital methods in education and how it leads to decreased education opportunities for underprivileged students in rural areas. As a result of decolonization, the concept of online education was introduced mostly in the 21st century as a mode of civilization. In Uganda, it was not compulsory for all schools to incorporate this system, although it is a common practice in the private school setting. Based on the findings, it is observed that the approach requires a kind of flexibility that allows the facilitators, mentors and motivators to work together (teachers, students, parents). The findings indicate that this was not the case, especially in many rural areas due to absence of digital skills. In addition to that, the school policies focused on traditional approach of having teachers and students learning in school. This has created a digital divide for the Karamojong who are saddled with issues of poor electricity and unavailable internet service.

Among the numerous challenges, inadequate facilities appeared to be the main impediment to online education during the pandemic. Most of the Newspaper articles in the findings agreed that inadequate facilities such as lack of computer and internet facility were the major factors that limited their engagement in online education. Similarly, poor electricity service,

unavailability and accessibility issues, and network issues, have also created numerous problems for accessing education during the COVID-19 lockdown in poverty-stricken areas (Onyema, Eucheria, Obafemi, Sen, Atonye, Sharma, & Alsayed, 2020).

The result of the study shows that the covid-19 pandemic has disrupted education activities and opportunities for indigenous people in Uganda. It displaced students and teachers and created multiple barriers in teaching and learning. Due to that, indigenous communities were blended into the traditional teaching techniques to assess how they continue with learning. This satisfies the main objectives of this project, which is to explore how indigenous communities contribute to the mitigation of the impact of such pandemics.

The study indicates that the COVID-19 lockdown increased pressure on parents and educational institutions. This is stressed by OECD report 2020 where the study showed that school closure can add stressors to students who are already contending with challenges associated with poverty and would require support to ensure the readiness of students and schools to learn during the pandemic (Reimers & Schleicher, 2020).

The finding also recognizes the need for technology in education particularly in times of emergencies. This assertion was also supported by Onyema (2019), where suggestions stress on the integration of emerging technologies in education, which would create flexibility in the changing learning environments and supports possible strategies that emphasize innovations. It also considers all parties in promoting the policies in learning systems to ensure that there are no inequalities in education as the findings indicate (Onyema, 2019).

The findings suggest possible strategies which are necessary to see that online study is successful. However, they also involve traditional means, while suggestions regarding what these indigenous communities can adopt are provided. However, these do not contradict, as they are also in line with the OECD report of 2020, which indicates the various strategies that can be incorporated in response to ensuring education continuation during the Covid-19 pandemic (Reimers & Schleicher, 2020). Among these, they presented twenty-five ways to responding to inadequacies in both schools, families and teachers that are considered when initiating such policies of online learning among communities or countries. They presented several factors to consider to ensure that there are no inequalities and missed opportunities in education. These factors border on aspects of education and power delegations. Some suggestions look at:

"Establishing a task force or steering committee that will have responsibility to develop and implement the education response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. To the extent possible ensure those in the task force represent different constituents in the education system or school network and bring important and diverse perspectives to inform their work, for example various departments curriculum, teacher education, information technology, teacher representatives, parent representatives, students, representatives of industry when relevant" (Reimers & Schleicher, 2020).

This is not far from the strategies provided in the findings, and the responses have been used by countries. Thus, the strategies in this finding are relevant in ensuring that education is accessed and considered.

Findings also indicate that it is also necessary to rely on low-cost technologies such as radio and educational television and consider useful innovations that have been traditionally developed in respective areas. These are important because they enable real-time interaction between students and teachers for students who need physical care and guidance (Reimers & Schleicher, 2020).

Findings also show that Covid-19 has affected Indigenous communities both positively and negatively. This is particularly true in cases where the governments has been able to realize the gaps that exist in education. Many schools did not incorporate e-learning solution, which now creates the need to develop the education sector for that purpose. However, as studies show that parents, teachers and students are becoming overly restive, and tend to not be informed about whether the closure of schools remains in place or when it will be lifted.

Chapter Six: Summary and Conclusive Remarks

6.1 Summary

The primary objective of this study was to find out the contribution indigenous communities have undertaken to ensure the continuation of education amidst the challenges faced during the closure of schools due to the Covid-19 Pandemic. I tried to find out the challenges and impacts indigenous communities faced in Uganda especially the Karamojong community, where I presented both the positive and negative impact as the Newspapers indicated, here I was also presented with the suggestions that these Indigenous peoples in Uganda suggested that would have been done to ensure effectiveness in achieving education during the Covid-19 pandemic.

Secondly, I showed a contribution that Indigenous communities of what the Karamojong community had invented to ensure they were not left out besides the inability to access the resources for digital studying to their pupils. The study was based on data gathered from Newspapers, which made it necessary for me to attain my study's objective. When I gathered data, I used the content analysis research method to significantly understand the pattern in these newspapers and get useful information for my study.

In chapter one, I presented my topic, a background of education in Uganda and Karamojong before Covid-19 to help the reader understand what education was for the study population before Covid-19 pandemic since the topic is related to COVID-19 pandemic that is still existing and problem statement of my study.

In chapter two, I reviewed previous research and literature on the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic. I looked at other pandemics on how they have affected Indigenous people compared to Covid-19 had created. I also presented literature concerning education, involving indigenous education, as I also presented the different ideologies of the African indigeneity concept, including the theoretical framework. I also introduced the challenges that I faced and the ethical issues that were involved during my topic

In chapter three, I presented the methods and data I used. Here I showed how I practically managed to analyze the data I had presented in my study project. In chapter four, I presented my analyzed data as presented in the Newspapers, which involved data on the impacts and challenges of Indigenous peoples regarding education during Covid-19 pandemic. It also includes the possible strategies or suggestions presented in the Newspapers that could be

undertaken. This is followed by the idea of a tool presented that Indigenous communities are using to see that education continues in their area.

Chapter five looks at the discussion of analysis where I presented the reflection for my findings in relation to the theoretical framework that I used for this study. Lastly, Chapter six includes a summary, contribution of the study, and conclusive remarks.

6.2 The contribution made by this study.

The study highlights the changes that Covid-19 has created both negatively and positively from other pandemics before. Since it is still ongoing, the study registers possible strategies that can be adopted to see that there are no inequalities in education, especially if such pandemic exists that creates a troll of education.

The study also highlights that some of the challenges faced by Karamojong people in achieving education are derived from the authorities positioned to see that the serviced are directed to them. The study portrayed that power should be well balance without discriminating any society, to limit the inequalities of education achievements in Indigenous communities.

Through the findings, the study helps to show the contributions that Indigenous Peoples have undertaken during the pandemics. There were suggested strategies that might have not been undertaken and deem important which are presented in this study that can be used since the pandemic is still ongoing. These can help and cub the inequalities that exist in education and ensure that Indigenous communities are also considered a first "priority" when developing new systems in education. This study also shows that Indigenous communities have a long way to go but still, when supported and helped by those in authority, they can play a significant role in whatever pandemic strikes on education too.

The study used power, education, and decolonization concept to analysis the situation as most data greatly looked at these aspects, and their relationship indicates that if these work hand in hand, it can help improve the condition of education in Karamojong. The study would contribute to the growing knowledge on Coronavirus effect on the education sector and the need to integrate both traditional and technology in education.

6.3 Conclusion and Recommendation

The newspaper articles I used provided a situational analysis of the state of education before and during the COVID-19 closures of schools in Uganda and Karamojong community. It has

analyzed interventions on the impacts the pandemic has had on school education, pointed out some of the challenges arising from the school closures, and suggested some responses and strategies for the management of the impacts and provided how Karamojong community has adopted the Seat pack tool to educate their peoples as they could not incorporate the needs to have access to digital learning system.

The COVID-19 pandemic has created educational disruption with the government having no firm grip on the educational system. This is because the pandemic required emergency measures to be adopted since schools were not sure when they would open. Yet, there was to ensure that students continue to learn amidst the closure of the schools especially when there was a need to undertake immediate actions to be taken to avoid the stagnation of the education system.

Jentoft (2003) also stresses power-sharing and partnerships as key aspects of development and co-management, therefore involving a task force on education in Karamojong needs to be set up under the leadership of the relevant ministry to explore possibilities where strategies provided can be undertaken as they can provide short-term measures which would enable both teachers and student to compensate for the loss that they experienced (Jentoft, 2003).

Most students in Karamoja have almost no access to technology, therefore the new measures would be effective primarily if the state would ensure to capitalize on low-tech approaches depending on community accessibility and provide some e-learning platforms to those students who have access to technology. As much has been lost during the pandemic, this study calls out on the possible strategies to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 pandemic on education to undertake a range from low-tech alternatives to hi-tech or no-tech options depending on what each community can access.

It is pleasing to see that the government of Uganda launched the provision of learning materials and distribution of radios under its Ministry of Education. Now, the need is to equip and train society on these new digital measures incorporated as they would be used in case such pandemics exist. However, different public and private schools should provide different online teaching/learning systems separately depending on their accessibility like combining the traditional technologies (radio, TV, landline phones) with mobile technologies to reach their populations residing in the outlying parts of the country. This will also require upgrading the service platform in areas facing difficulties accessing these services, which would be great

effort in enhancing education service platforms. Mobilization of all service providers should be undertaken, especially in most disadvantaged communities.

References

ABEK Project Plan for 2006, Alternative basic education for Karamoja, Submitted by Development Education Consultancy. Reviewed by Save the Children in Uganda https://www.norad.no/globalassets/import-2162015-80434-am/www.norad.no-ny/filarkiv/ngo-evaluations/docs-68908-v1-review-of-alternative-basic-education-in-karamoja---final-report.pdf

Abukari K (2017) Reflexivity and the Insider/Outsider discourse in Indigenous Research: my personal experiences Alter Native vol 13(4) 220

African Commission on Human, Peoples' Rights, & International Work Group for Indigenous Affairs. (2006). Indigenous Peoples in Africa: The Forgotten Peoples? the African Commission's Work on Indigenous Peoples in Africa. IWGIA.

Ames, Patricia. 2012. Language, culture and identity in the transition to primary school: Challenges to indigenous children's rights to education in Peru. *International Journal of Educational Development* 32(3): 454–462.

Anthony Achi 2021, African Indigenous Education AfricanIndigenousEducation.pdf

AP News, November 1, 2021 Ugandan kids lose hope in long school closure amid pandemic-https://apnews.com/article/coronavirus-pandemic-uganda-education-schools-f21f7f5751f32a4785c6b215c81f1530

Ariong, S. (2016, 22 February 2016). Hunger kills 11 in Kaabong The Daily Monitor. Retrieved from https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/news/national/hunger-kills-11-in-kaabong-1641282 (accessed 6 October 2021)

Berry, C., & Davis, E. (2020). Mitigating COVID-19 impacts and getting education systems up and running again: Lessons from Sierra Leone. UKFIET: The Education and Development Forum, 22 April [blog post]. https://www.ukfet.org/2020/mitigating-covid19-impacts-and-getting-education-systems-up-and-running-again-lessons-from-sierra-leone/? fbclid=IwAR3uWcOSLIDW1DonvNmjrPL1oHJTrjxswFDHT6-ChFCcELte0te57sCvfq0

Bird, K. & Higgins, k. (2009) Conflict, education and the intergenerational transmission of poverty in Northern Uganda London: Overseas Development Institute

Bird, K., Higgins, K., & McKay, A. (2010). Conflict, education and the intergenerational transmission of poverty in Northern Uganda. *Journal of International Development*, 22(8), 1183-1196.

Bird, K., Higgins, K., & McKay, A. (2010). Conflict, education and the intergenerational transmission of poverty in Northern Uganda. *Journal of International Development*, 22(8), 1183-1196.

Boateng, F. (1983). African traditional education: A method of disseminating cultural values. Journal of Black Studies, 13(3), 321-336.

Boréus, K., & Bergström, G. (2017). 9.1 Chapter 2, Content Analysis. *Analyzing text and discourse: Eight approaches for the social sciences*.

Brock-Utne, Birgit. 2000. Whose education for all: The recolonization of the African mind. New York: Falmer Press.

Brown, V., Kelly, M., & Mabugu, T. (2017). The Education System in Karamoja. HEART. Retrieved from the_education_system_in_karamoja_revised_july_17_dfid.pdf (karamojaresilience.org)

Burridge, N., Whalan, F. & Vaughan, K., 2012. Indigenous Education, Learning Journey For Teachers, Schools & Communities. s.l.: Sense Publishers.

Cajete, Gregory A., and Santa Clara Pueblo. 2010. Contemporary indigenous education: A nature-centered American Indian philosophy for a 21st century world. *Futures* 42(10): 1126–1132.

Cajete, Gregory. 2006. It is time for Indian people to define indigenous education on our own terms. *Tribal College* 18(2): 56–57.

Carvalho, S., Rossiter, J., Angrist, N. Hares, S., & Silverman, R. (2020). Planning for school reopening and recovery after COVID-19: An evidence kit for policymakers. Washington, DC: Center for Global Development. Retrieved 8 March 2021 from https://www.cgdev.org/publication/plann ing-school-reopening-and-recovery-after-covid-19

Chilisa. B, 2020. Indigenous Research Methodologies. Sage Publications

Clothey, R. A. (2015). ICT and indigenous education: Emerging challenges and potential solutions. In *Indigenous education* (pp. 63-75). Springer, Dordrecht.

Coates, K., & Coates, K. S. (2004). A global history of indigenous peoples. Palgrave Macmillan UK.

Crawhall, N. (2011). "Africa and the UN declaration on the rights of indigenous peoples." The international journal of human rights, *15*(1), 11-36.

Cyclone Times April 14, 2020 Effects of Covid-19 on Schools in Ugandahttps://cyclonetimes.com/effects-of-covid-19-on-schools-in-uganda/ Dahl, J. (2012). The indigenous space and marginalized peoples in the United Nations. Springer.

Daily Monitor , (2021) retrieved from Let us provide better education opportunities for rural children - Daily Monitor

Drugge, Anna-Lill (ed)(2016):Ethics in Indigenous Research Vaartoe-Centre for Sami Research . 190p

Education Studies: An Issue Based Approach redigert av Will Curtis, Stephen Ward, John Sharp, Les Hankin 2006

Fanelli, D., Cajuste, F., Cetta, D., & Emmanuel, A. (2020). Effect of COVID-19 on the Educational Sector in Uganda.

Focas Litch, M , 2000 Alternative Basic Education for Karamoja (ABEK-Uganda) Accessed from; https://www.eenet.org.uk/enabling-education-review/enabling-education-4/newsletter-4/4-3/

Gilje, N (2020). Hermeneutics: Theory and methods, in M. Järvinen and N. Mik-Meyer (Eds.), Qualitative Analysis: Eight Approaches for the Social Sciences. SAGE Publications.

Gjerpe, K. K., 2018. From Indigenous education to Indigensing Mainstream education. Feks. Scandinavian Journal of Intercultural Theory & Practice.

Gyimah, Nathaniel, Assessing Technological Innovation on Education in the World of Coronavirus (COVID-19) (August 10, 2020). Annal Immunology & Immunotherapy, 2022, 4(1):000158.SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3670389 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3670 389

Hamley, Jeffrey. 2001. Crossing the border: Indigenous education is alive and growing. *Tribal College* 13(2): 12.

Hays, J., 2016. Owners Of Learning. The Nyae Nyae village schools over twenty-five years. 16 ed. Switzerland: Namibia Resource Centre and Southern Africa Library.

He, F., Deng, Y., & Li, W. (2020). Coronavirus disease 2019: What we know?. *Journal of medical virology*, 92(7), 719-725.

Higgs, P., L.G. Higgs, and E. Venter. 2003. Indigenous African knowledge systems and innovation in higher education in South Africa. *South African Journal of Higher Education* 17(2): 40–45.

Howard, Rosaleen. 2009. Education reform, indigenous politics, and decolonization in the Bolivia of Evo Morales. *International Journal of Educational Development* 29(6): 583–593.

Hsieh and Shannon (2005) Three Approaches to Qualitative Content Analysis. Qualitative Health Research 15(9):1277-88

https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190264093.013.240

Huang, R., Tlili, A., Chang, T. W., Zhang, X., Nascimbeni, F., & Burgos, D. (2020). Disrupted classes, undisrupted learning during COVID-19 outbreak in China: application of open educational practices and resources. *Smart Learning Environments*, 7(1), 1-15.

Huisman, C. S. (2001). Once Patriarchs and Warriors: Masculinity and Modernity in Karamoja, Uganda. Vol. XXVI.

Huisman, C. S. (2001). Once Patriarchs and Warriors: Masculinity and Modernity in Karamoja, Uganda. Vol. XXVI.

Indigenous Education and Decolonization | Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Education

IPACC, I. p. o. A. C. C., 2011. The Human Rights Situation of Karamojong Indigenous people Of Uganda. Submission to the 12th session of the UPR Working Group on the Human Rights Situation Of Karamajong Indigenous People of Uganda.. 11th March

IWGIA, 2011. International Work Group for Indigenous Affairs, Indigenous People in Uganda. Retrieved from: Indigenous peoples in Uganda - IWGIA - International Work Group for Indigenous Affairs

IWGIA, 2019. International Work Group for Indigenous Affairs, s.l.: Indigenous World.

Jacob, W.J., Cheng, S.Y., Porter, M.K. (2015). Global Review of Indigenous Education: Issues of Identity, Culture, and Language. In: Jacob, W., Cheng, S., Porter, M. (eds) Indigenous Education. Springer, Dordrecht. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9355-1_1

Järvinen, M., & Mik-Meyer, N. (Eds.) (2020). Qualitative Analysis: Eight Approaches for the Social Sciences. SAGE Publications.

Javira S. (2020, April 23). Full Speech: Education Minister Janet Museveni orders on school term, tertiary institutions. PML Daily. https://www.pmldaily.com/news/education/2020/04/fullspeech-education-minister-janet-museveni-orders-on-school-term-tertiary-institutions.html

Javira, Ssebwami (2021) 10 Important Facts to know about education in Uganda

Jeff Lambe. (2003). Indigenous Education, Mainstream Education, and Native Studies: Some Considerations When Incorporating Indigenous Pedagogy into Native Studies. American Indian Quarterly, 27(1/2), 308–324. http://www.jstor.org/stable/4138868

Jentoft, S. (2003). Co-management-the way forward. Fish and Fisheries Series, 26, 1-16.

Kagaha, A., Mugisha, J., & Atugonza, S. (2009). Livelihoods, Culture and Gender: A Situational Analysis of the Challenges and Opportunities for addressing GenderBased Violence in Karamoja Region. Retrieved from http://munyes.yolasite.com/resources/GBV%20REPORT-%20UNFPAKDDS%20Moroto.pdf (Accessed 20 August 2016)

Kerlinger, F.N. (1986). Foundations of behavioural research (3rd ed), New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston

Klein, J., 2011. Indigenous knowledge and education - The case of the Nama people in Namibia. Education as change, Volume Vol 15(1), p. P. 81

Kofi, A., 2004. Indigenous Education In Africa: Evidence from the Akan. Journal of Culture and Its Transmission in the African World, winter, Volume Vol 1(2), pp. Pp 115, 117-143,175.

Korugrendo, P. L., & Benson, T. (2011). Food for Education Programs: Lessons for Uganda. International Food Policy Research Institute. https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/ussppn13.pdf

Krippendorff, K. (2018). Content Analysis. An introduction to Its methodology. 2nd edition. SAGE publications

Lambe, Jeff. 2003. Indigenous education, mainstream education, and native studies: Some considerations when incorporating indigenous pedagogy into native studies. *American Indian Quarterly* 27(1/2): 308–324.

Langton, M., and Zane Ma Rhea. 2009. The right to the good life: Indigenous education and the ladder to prosperity. In *Perspectives*, ed. H. Sykes, 95–119. Sydney: Future Leaders.

Le Roux, C. 2005. Can indigenous knowledge systems (IKSs) come to the rescue of distance adult learning facilitation? *South African Journal of Higher Education* 18(3): 92–105.

Lighting Africa Report, Retrieved from: Uganda - Lighting Africa Accessed on 14 September. 2021

Mahaye, N. E. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 pandemic on education: navigating forward the pedagogy of blended learning. Research online.

Marshall, James D. 2000. Technology, education and indigenous peoples: The case of Maori. *Educational Philosophy and Theory* 32(1): 119–131.

Maurstad, A. (2002). Fishing in murky waters-ethics and politics of research on fisher knowledge. Marine Policy, 159-166.

May, Stephen, and Sheila Aikman. 2003. Indigenous education: Addressing current issues and developments. *Comparative Education* 39(2): 139–145.

McCarty, Teresa L., Tamara Borgoiakova, K. Perry Gilmore, Tsianina Lomawaima, and Mary Eunice Romero. 2005. Indigenous epistemologies and education: Self-determination, anthropology, and human rights. *Anthropology and Education Quarterly* 36(1): 1–7.

McNally, Michael David. 2004. Indigenous pedagogy in the classroom: A service model learning for discussion. *American Indian Quarterly* 28(3/4): 604–617.

Monitor January 6, 2021 Work, school, play: How Covid reshaped our world-https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/news/national/work-school-play-how-covid-reshaped-our-world-3673592

Monitor September 16, 2020 Covid-19 impacts taking toll on Entebbe special need children. https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/news/national/covid19-impacts-taking-toll-entebbe-special-needs-children-2102976

Monitor, 25 May 2020 Monitor, 25 May 2020 Monitor, 25 May 2020 60,000 Refugee children benefit from home-learning-https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/news/national/60-000-refugee-children-benefit-from-home-learning-1891614

Monitor, April 19, 2021, Let us provide better education opportunities for rural children.https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/oped/commentary/let-us-provide-better-education-opportunities-for-rural-children-3368710

Monitor, April 27, 2021 Using Mobile Furniture to keep children in School.-https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/business/prosper/using-mobile-furniture-to-keep-children-in-school-3379046

Monitor, August 9, 2021, Think of how to sort Education .https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/oped/commentary/think-of-how-to-sort-education-3504660

Monitor, February 1, 2021 Impact of Covid lockdown on learners - https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/news/education/the-impact-of-covid-lockdown-on-learners-3275908

Monitor, January 03, 2021, Government response on education amid Covid wanting-https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/oped/letters/govt-response-on-education-amid-covid-wanting-3245530

Monitor, January 07 2021 Report pokes holes into impact of government home study materials.https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/news/national/report-pokes-holes-into-impact-of-govt-home-study-materials-3250086

Monitor, January 10, 2021, The discomfort of education in Karamojahttps://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/news/education/the-discomfort-of-education-in-karamoja-1467370 Monitor, January 4, 2021 Covid-19 induced online learning here to stay. https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/news/education/covid-19-induced-online-learning-here-to-stay-3246900

Monitor, July 21, 2021 Promote the right to education in E-learning-https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/oped/letters/promote-the-right-to-education-in-e-learning-3481272

Monitor, June 11, 2020, World Vision launches plan to support 5 million children in home learning -https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/news/national/world-vison-launches-plan-to-support-5-million-children-in-home-learning-1894190

Monitor, June 11, 2021, Uganda resumes Radio lessons after schools closed over Covid-19-https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/news/national/uganda-resumes-radio-lessons-after-schools-closed-over-covid-19-3433830

Monitor, May 01, 2020 Radios, Tv Programmes not helping rural pupils-Kadaga-https://www.monitor.co.ug/News/National/Radio-TV-programmes-rural-pupils-Kadaga-MPs-COVID19/688334-5539522-format-xhtml-1105vpxz/index.html

Monitor, May 17 2021, Minisrty of Education stuck with home schooling books-https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/news/national/ministry-of-education-stuck-with-home-schooling-books-3403852

Monitor, May 17, 2021, Ministry of Education stuck with home schooling books-https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/news/national/ministry-of-education-stuck-with-home-schooling-books-3403852

Monitor, October 9, 2021 Online Learning deepens gaps in education sector - https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/oped/letters/online-learning-deepens-gaps-in-education-sector-3577350

Nakisanze S. (2019) Global Press Journal When the Fields become the Classrooms: Tranfroming Education in Karamoja. https://www.education.go.ug/when-the-fields-become-the-classroom-transforming-education-in-karamoja/

Ndhlovu, F., and J. Masuku. 2005. Mainstreaming African indigenous knowledge systems in higher and tertiary education: The case of Zimbabwe. *South African Journal of Higher Education* 18(3): 281–288.

New Vision, August 2, 2021 Coronavirus and lifestyle in Uganda. https://www.newvision.co.ug/articledetails/111425

New Vision, July 28, 2021, Covid-19 and Uganda's education sectorhttps://www.newvision.co.ug/articledetails/110265 New Vision. (2020, March 18). As It Happened | Museveni Address On Coronavirus. https://www.newvision.co.ug/new_vision/news/1516707/-live-museveni-addresses-nation.coronavirus

NSD. 2020. "NSD- Norwegian Centre for Research Data". https://nsd.no/nsd/english/index.html. Accessed March 13, 2020.

NTV Uganda (Producer). (13 February, 2017). Hundreds on the verge of starvation as drought ravages Karamoja. Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sJKFWcwgFEY (Accessed 13 February 2017)

NTV Uganda (Producer). (14 February, 2017). School lunch remains only source of food for many children in Karamoja.

Onyema, E. M., Eucheria, N. C., Obafemi, F. A., Sen, S., Atonye, F. G., Sharma, A., & Alsayed, A. O. (2020). Impact of Coronavirus pandemic on education. *Journal of Education and Practice*, *11*(13), 108-121.

Onyema, E.M. (2019). Integration of Emerging Technologies in Teaching and Learning Process in Nigeria: the challenges. Central Asian Journal of Mathematical Theory and Computer Sciences, 1(August), 1. 35-39.

Otiso, K. M. (2006). Culture and customs of Uganda: Greenwood Publishing Group.

Pensiero .N , 2021 Learning inequalities in the Uk during the Covid-19 pandemic Accessed from; https://www.ucl.ac.uk/ioe/events/2021/nov/learning-inequalities-uk-during-covid-19-pandemic

Pratt, Y. P., Louie, D. W., Hanson, A. J., & Ottmann, J. (2018). Indigenous education and decolonization. In *Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Education*.

Reimers, F. M., & Schleicher, A. (2020). A framework to guide an education response to the COVID-19 Pandemic of 2020. *OECD. Retrieved April*, *14*(2020), 2020-04.

Saugestad, S. (2008). Beyond the "Columbus Context": new challenges as the indigenous discourse is applied to Africa. Indigenous Peoples. Self-determination, Knowledge, Indigeneity, 157-173.

Sidonia A., Ochieng and David C., Waiswa (2019) 'Pastoral education: The missing in in Uganda education system', in Educational Research and Reviews, Vol.14(7), pp.24

Singhal, T. (2020). A review of coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19). *The indian journal of pediatrics*, 87(4), 281-286.

Sissons, J. (2005). First peoples: Indigenous cultures and their futures. Reaktion Books.

Smith, L. T. (2012). Decolonizing Methodologies, London & NY (2nd ed.). London: Zed Books Ltd

Ssekamwa, J. C. (1997) History and Development of Education in Uganda (Fountain Publishers, 1997, 245 p.): 12. Development of Education 1962-1990, Fountain Publishers.

Stasavage, David (2005). "The Role of Democracy in Uganda's Move to Universal Primary Education" . The Journal of Modern African Studies. 43 (1): 53–73. doi:10.1017/S0022278X04000618. JSTOR 3876259.

Stavenhagen, R. (2009). Making the declaration work. Making the Declaration Work: The United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, 352-71.

Stempel, G.H. (1989). Content analysis. In G.H.Stempel and B.H.Westley (Eds) Research methods in mass communications, Englewood Cliffs NJ: Prentice-Hall

Stephen May & Sheila Aikman (2003) Indigenous Education: Addressing current issues and developments, Comparative Education, 39:2, 139-145, DOI: 10.1080/03050060302549 https://doi.org/10.1080/03050060302549

Tedla, E., 1992. Indigenous African Education As a Means for understanding the fullness of life. (Amara Traditional Education). Journal of Black studies, Volume 23.

The Observer, September 16, 2021 Why home is not formal school. https://www.observer.ug/education/71227-why-home-is-not-formal-school

The World Bank. (2015). Third Northern Uganda Social Action Fund (NUSAF 3). Northern Uganda Social Action Fund (NUSAF). Retrieved from http://projects.worldbank.org/P149965/?lang=en&tab=overview

Tumwesige, J. (2020). COVID-19 Educational Disruption and Response: Rethinking e-Learning in Uganda. University of Cambridge.

UNESCO (2020): COVID-19: Impact on Education. UNESCO, available at: https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse

UNICEF Uganda, 2010/Noorani Education For every child, an education https://www.unicef.org/uganda/what-we-do/education

United Nations Declaration on Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP), (2007). United Nations Sub-commission on Prevention of Discrimination and protection of minorities & Martinez Cobo Jose R. (1987). Study of the problem of discrimination against indigenous populations. New York: United Nations

Victoria Brown, Marion Kelly and Trevor Mabugu 2017 The Education System in Karamoja

W. James Jacob, Sheng Yao Cheng, Maureen K. Porter 2015 Indigenous Education Language, culture and identity. *2015_Book_IndigenousEducation (1).pdf

Wangia, J. I. (2020). Ssekamwa, JC (1997). History and Development of Education in Uganda. Fountain Publishers, Kampala Sustainable development knowledge platform (2015). Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Retrieved from https://sustainabledevelopment. un. org/post20152015/transformingourworld. *Journal of Education and Social Sciences*, 75.

William C. Smith. (2021) Consequences of school closure on access to education: Lessons from the 2013–2016 Ebola pandemic. Retrieved from: https://www.cgdev.org/publication/plann ing-school-reopening-and-recovery-after-covid-19

Working Group of Experts on Indigenous Populations/Communities. (2005). Report of the African Commission's Working Group of Experts on Indigenous Populations/Communities: Submitted in Accordance with the" Resolution on the Rights of Indigenous Populations/Communities in Africa", : ACHPR and IWGIA

Zhirkova, S. (2006). *School on the" move"*. A case study: Nomadic schooling of the indigenous Evenk children in the Republic of Sakha Yakutia (Russian Far East) (Master's thesis, Universitetet i Tromsø).